
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
REGULAR MEETING 

Thursday, August 8, 2024, at 6 p.m. 
Benton County Administration Building, Room 303 

7122 W. Okanogan Place Building E, Kennewick, Washington 
 

 Notice:  Meeting attendance options include in-person and virtual via Zoom 
Spanish language translation is available via Zoom 

 
Meeting Link: 

https://zoom.us/j/98962178731?pwd=OGg1amhEQXA0RG5QRTdqNnFpRGN5dz09 
Phone: 253-215-8782 / Toll Free: 877-853-5247 
Meeting ID: 989 6217 8731 / Password: 833979 

 
If you wish to provide written comments to the Board or speak during the Public Comments portion of a Board 
meeting, please submit this form. If you wish to make public comments during the meeting, persons may speak for 
up to three minutes on matters related to agenda items only and other matters directly related to, or under the 
direction of the Ben Franklin Transit Board of Director’s Authority.  Submitting written public comments, no later 
than 24 hours in advance will ensure they are distributed to the Board before the upcoming meeting.  The public 
comment portion of the meeting is generally limited to thirty minutes total, unless extended by the Board of 
Directors.  Priority shall be given to those who have signed up for public comment in advance.  
 

 

AGENDA 
 

 
1. Convene Board Meeting Chair Will McKay 
2. Roll Call Anel Montejano 
3. Pledge of Allegiance Chair McKay 
4. Public Comments  Chair McKay 
5. Approval of Agenda (page 1) Chair McKay 
6. Consent Agenda 

A. July 18, 2024, Special Board Meeting Minutes (page 5) 

B. July 18, 2024, Regular Board Meeting Minutes (page 7) 

C. July Voucher Summary (page 13) 

https://zoom.us/j/98962178731?pwd=OGg1amhEQXA0RG5QRTdqNnFpRGN5dz09
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fwww.bft.org%2fabout%2fpublic-comments%2f&c=E,1,ondbTDUChlrVxKOYbQlPLWsUpMMEg0XrnkOzx0rVoEn3wwBcZmBDYJdgBlPdQX6WNd-hbtFto7apV_qmdk2vG-oFk3jhQo7z_hYgdk-Pg-E,&typo=1


2  

D. Resolution 38-2024 Authorizing the Interim General Manager to Declare the Items Identified on 
Exhibit A: “List of Surplus Information Technology Items” as Surplus and Dispose of per 
Resolution 62-2024 (page 28) 
 

E. Resolution 39-2024 Authorizing the Interim General Manager to Enter into a Contract for Mobile 
Ticketing Services with Cubic Transportations Systems, Inc. (page 33) 
  

7. Action Items   

A. Adoption of the 2024-2030 Transit Development Plan Kevin Sliger 
i. 2024-2030 Transit Development Plan Presentation  

ii. Public Hearing 
iii. Resolution 40-2024 Adopt the 2024-2030 Transit Development Plan (TDP)  

as Presented (page 36) 
 
8. Discussion & Informational Items  

A. Second Quarter 2024 Agency Performance Report (page 114) Kevin Sliger 
B. Long-Range Transit Plan (page 122) Kevin Sliger 

9. Staff Reports & Comments 
A. Legal Report Jeremy Bishop 
B. Interim General Manager’s report  Sarah Funk  

10. Board Member Comments 
11. Executive Session 

An Executive Session will be held under RCW 42.30.110(1)(b) consideration of site or acquisition of 
real estate purchase or lease if likelihood that disclosure would increase price, RCW 42.30.110(1)(g) 
to evaluate the qualifications of an application for public employment, RCW 42.30.140(4)(b) 
collective bargaining, and RCW 42.30.110(1)(i) discussion with legal counsel about current or 
potential litigation.  

12. Other 

13. Next Meeting 
Regular Board Meeting – Thursday, September 12, 2024, at 6:00 p.m. 

14. Adjournment 



 
 

 
 
 

 
 

JUNTA DIRECTIVA 
REUNIÓN ORDINARIA 

Jueves, 8 de Agosto, del 2024, a las 6 p.m. 
Edificio de la Administración del Condado de Benton, Sala 303 
7122 W. Okanogan Place, Edificio E, Kennewick, Washington 

 
 Aviso:  Las opciones de asistencia a las reuniones incluyen en persona y  

virtuales a través de Zoom 
Traducción al Español está disponible a través de Zoom 

 
Enlace de la reunión: 

https://zoom.us/j/98962178731?pwd=OGg1amhEQXA0RG5QRTdqNnFpRGN5dz09 
Teléfono: 253-215-8782 / Número gratuito: 877-853-5247 

ID de Reunión: 989 6217 8731 / Contraseña: 833979 
 
Si desea proporcionar comentarios por escrito a la Junta o hablar durante la parte de Comentarios Públicos de una 
reunión de la Junta, favor envíe este formulario. Si desea hacer comentario público durante la reunión, personas 
pueden hablar hasta tres minutos sobre asuntos relacionados únicamente sobre temas de la agenda y otros asuntos 
directamente relacionados con, o bajo la dirección de la Autoridad de la Junta Directiva de Ben Franklin Transit.  
Sometiendo comentarios públicos por escrito, a más tardar 24 horas en anticipación garantizará que sea 
distribuido a la Junta antes de la próxima reunión.  Por lo general, la parte de la reunión dedicada a los 
comentarios del público se limita a un total de treinta minutos, a menos que la Junta Directiva la extiende.  Se 
dará prioridad a quienes se hayan inscrito con anticipación para hacer comentarios públicos.  
 

AGENDA 

 
1. Convocar reunión de la Junta Presidente Will McKay  
2. Pase de lista Anel Montejano 
3. Juramento de Lealtad Presidente McKay 
4. Comentarios públicos  Presidente McKay 

5. Aprobación de la agenda (página 1) Presidente McKay 
6. Agenda de consentimiento 

https://zoom.us/j/98962178731?pwd=OGg1amhEQXA0RG5QRTdqNnFpRGN5dz09
https://www.bft.org/about/public-comments/


2  

A. 18 de Julio, Actas de la Reunión Extraordinaria de la Junta (página 5) 

B. 18 de Julio, 2024, Actas de la Reunión Ordinaria de la Junta (página 7) 

C. Resumen de los Comprobantes de Julio (página 13) 

D. Resolución 38-2024 Autorizando al Director General para Declarar Artículos Identificados en 
Anexo A “Lista de Artículos Excedentes de Tecnología de Información” como Excedentes y 
Disponer de ellos tal como indica en Resolución 62-2014 (página 28)   

E. Resolución 39-2024 Autorizando al Director General para Entrar en un Contrato para Servicios 
Móviles de Venta de Billetes con Cubic Transportation Systems, Inc. (página 33) 

7. Temas de Acción 

A. Adopción del 2024-2030 Plan de Desarrollo de Transporte Público Kevin Sliger 
i. Presentación  

ii. Audiencia pública 
iii. Resolución 40-2024 Adopción del 2024-2030 Plan de Desarrollo  

de Transporte Público como Presentado (página 36) 
 

8. Temas de discusión y de información 

A. Segundo trimestre del 2024 Informe de Desempeño de la Agencia (página 114) Kevin Sliger 

B. Plan de Tránsito a Largo Plazo (página 122) Kevin Sliger 

9. Informes y comentarios del personal 
A. Informe Jurídico Jeremy Bishop 
B. Informe del Director General Interino Sarah Funk 

10. Comentarios de los miembros de la Junta 
11. Sesión ejecutiva 

Sesión ejecutiva se llevar a cabo bajo RCW 42.30.110(1)(b) la consideración del sitio o la adquisición de 
bienes raíces de compra o arrendamiento si la probabilidad de que la divulgación aumentaría el precio y RCW 
42.30.110(1)(g) para evaluar las calificaciones de una solicitud de empleo público, RCW 42.30.140(4)(b) 
negociación colectiva, y RCW 42.30.110(1)(i) discusión con el asesor jurídico sobre litigios actuales o 
potenciales. 

12. Otro 

13. Próxima reunión 
Reunión ordinaria de la Junta - Jueves, 12 de Septiembre, 2024, a las 6:00 p.m. 

14. Aplazamiento 



  
 
 
 
 

 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
SPECIAL MEETING: BOARD WORKSHOP 

Thursday, July 18, 2024, at 5 p.m. 
Benton County Administration Building, Room 303 

7122 W. Okanogan Place Building E, Kennewick, Washington 
 

Meeting attendance options included in-person and virtual via Zoom 
 

 

MINUTES 
 

 
1. CONVENE BOARD MEETING 

Chair Will McKay called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m. 
Clerk of the Board Anel Montejano asked the Board of Directors to state their name when their 
jurisdiction was called. 

2. ROLL CALL 

Representing Attendee Name Title Status 
City of Pasco Charles Grimm Director Present 
City of Kennewick Brad Beauchamp Vice Chair Present 
City of Richland Kurt Maier Director Present 
City of West Richland Richard Bloom Director Present 
Franklin County #2 Stephen Bauman Director Present 
Franklin County #1 Clint Didier Director Present via Zoom 
Benton County Will McKay Chair Present 
City of Prosser Steve Becken Director Present 
City of Benton City David Sandretto Director Present via Zoom 
Teamsters Union 839 Caleb Suttle Union Representative Present 

BFT Staff:  Janet Brett, Imelda Collop, Terry DeJuan, Tony Kalmbach, Christopher Lilyblade, Brian 
Lubanski, Gabe Martin, Mackenzie Miller, Rob Orvis, Aimee Ramirez, Joshua Rosas, Kevin Sliger, 
Kathryn Wall  
 
Legal Counsel:  Jeremy Bishop 
Interpreters:  Ruth Medina, Ynez Vargas 

 
3. PRESENTATION 

Chief Planning & Development Officer Kevin Sliger began the presentation going over the public 



Board of Directors Special Meeting Minutes 
July 18, 2024 
Page 2 of 2  

transit benefit area growth, fixed route analysis tools, how the planning team uses data to make 
informed decisions on service, fixed route ridership, and improvements made based on trends that 
have been observed over the past couple of years. He discussed the impacts of I-2117, if repealed, 
and tentative scenarios.  He then presented the 2024 modified service plan revisions.  Mr. Sliger 
discussed scenario A, if I-2117 does not pass, and scenario B, if I-2117 is passed and funding is 
repealed. Transit Planning Manager Gabe Martin presented information on the youth ride free 
program and ridership trends throughout the system.   
 

4. DISCUSSION 
Board members commended the presentation. There was discussion on each of the scenarios 
presented, the cost and usage of fuel, and reasons for the increase in ridership. Staff were asked to 
convert percentages to numbers.   Board members also expressed an interest in the school walk 
zones. 
 

5. OTHER 
There were no other agenda items.  
 

6. NEXT MEETING 
The next regular Board meeting will be held Thursday, July 18, 2024, at 6:00 p.m. 
 

7. ADJOURNMENT 
Chair McKay adjourned the meeting at 5:54 p.m. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
Anel Montejano, Clerk of the Board  Date 



  
 
 
 
 

 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
REGULAR MEETING 

Thursday, July 18, 2024, at 6 p.m. 
Benton County Administration Building, Room 303 

7122 W. Okanogan Place Building E, Kennewick, Washington 
 

Meeting attendance options included in-person and virtual via Zoom 
 

 

MINUTES 
 

 
1. CONVENE BOARD MEETING 

Chair Will McKay called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 
Clerk of the Board Anel Montejano asked the Board of Directors to state their name when their 
jurisdiction was called. 

2. ROLL CALL 

Representing Attendee Name Title Status 
City of Pasco Charles Grimm Director Present 
City of Kennewick Brad Beauchamp Vice Chair Present 
City of Richland Kurt Maier Director Present 
City of West Richland Richard Bloom Director Present 
Franklin County #2 Stephen Bauman Director Present 
Franklin County #1 Clint Didier Director Present via Zoom 
Benton County Will McKay Chair Present 
City of Prosser Steve Becken Director Present 
City of Benton City David Sandretto Director Present via Zoom 
Teamsters Union 839 Caleb Suttle Union Representative Present 

BFT Staff:  Andrea Benson, Janet Brett, Imelda Collop, Terry DeJuan, Tony Kalmbach, Christopher 
Lilyblade, Brian Lubanski, Gabe Martin, Mackenzie Miller, Shawna Munyan, Rob Orvis, Emily Pearce, 
Aimee Ramirez, Joshua Rosas, Kevin Sliger, Anish Tamrakar, Penny Thoelke, Solomon Torelli, 
Kathryn Wall, Vanessa Walsh, Wayne Welle 
 
Legal Counsel:  Jeremy Bishop 
Interpreters:  Ruth Medina, Ynez Vargas 
 
 



Board of Directors Regular Meeting Minutes 
July 18, 2024 
Page 2 of 6  

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
Chair McKay led the meeting participants in the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

4. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
Chair McKay then opened the meeting to comments from the public. 
 
BFT Legal Counsel Jeremy Bishop, stated public comments are to be directed towards 
items on the agenda and items of general interest to the Board.  Public comments are 
limited to three (3) minutes per person and thirty (30) minutes in total, unless directed 
otherwise by the Board.  Public comments will start with those who have signed up in 
advance to speak. 
 
Emily Pearce, resident of Benton County, spoke in favor of expanding public transit 
service.  
 
Dori Luzzo-Gilmour, resident of Richland, spoke in favor of students riding public transit. 
 
No Written Public Comments were received.  
  

5. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
Chair McKay asked for a motion to approve the agenda. 
 
BFT Legal Counsel Jeremy Bishop proposed an addition to agenda item 12, a third topic 
for the Executive Session.  Mr. Bishop stated there will be an Executive Session under 
RCW 42.30.110(1)(b), RCW 42.30.110(1)(g), as well as RCW 42.30.140(4)(b), an update 
to collective bargaining, which was the additional item. 
 
Director Bloom moved to approve the revised agenda, and Director Becken seconded the motion. 
It passed unanimously. 
 

6. RECOGNITIONS 
A. Resolution 27-2024 Retirement of David Thomas 
Senior Manager of Transportation Tony Kalmbach read the Board resolution recognizing  
David Thomas, who was not present, for his 19 years of service.  
Director Bauman moved for approval of Resolution 27-2024.  The motion was seconded by 
Director Bloom and passed unanimously. 
 
B. Resolution 28-2024 Recognizing Operator of the Year Vanessa Walsh 
C. Resolution 29-2024 Recognizing Support Staff Member of the Year Christopher Lilyblade 
D. Resolution 30-2024 Recognizing Team of the Year, Fixed Route Dispatch: Andrea Benson, Ryan 

Dudley, Timothy Hedding, Nathan Miller, Emily Pearce, and Penny Thoelke 
Chief Operations Officer Joshua Rosas presented Operator of the Year and Team of the Year for 
Board recognition, highlighting the achievements noted in their nominations.  
 
Director Bloom moved for approval of Resolution 28-2024 and 30-2024.  The motion was 
seconded by Director Beauchamp and passed unanimously. 



Board of Directors Regular Meeting Minutes 
July 18, 2024 
Page 3 of 6  

 
Chief Planning & Development Officer Kevin Sliger presented Support Staff Member of the Year 
Christopher Lilyblade, highlighting his achievements.  
 
Director Bloom moved for approval of Resolution 29-2024.  The motion was seconded by 
Director Becken and passed unanimously. 
 

7. CITIZENS ADVISORY NETWORK (CAN) REPORT  
Mr. Ulises Navarro provided a report on the Citizens Advisory Network and highlighted the agenda 
items discussed at their regular meetings in June and July of 2024.   
 

8. CONSENT AGENDA 
Chair McKay presented the Consent Agenda items and invited a motion. 
A. May 9, 2024, Regular Board Meeting Minutes 
B. May & June Voucher Summaries 
C. Resolution 31-2024 Authorizing the Interim General Manager to Accept the 

Completion of the Chassis Wash and Lift Replacement Project 
D. Resolution 32-2024 Authorizing the Acceptance of the Bus Stop Pad Construction and 

Amenity Installation Contract #1348 with ESF Solutions, LCC, as Complete 
Director Bauman moved for approval of the Consent items.  The motion was seconded by 
Director Bloom and passed unanimously. 
 

9. ACTION ITEMS 

A. Resolution 33-2024 Authorizing the Interim General Manager to Award Contract #1456,  
 On-Call Marketing and Media Placement Services, to Hunter Marketing  
 
 Senior Manager of Customer Service Brian Lubanski presented a resolution to award the 

contract for on-call marketing and media placement services to Hunter Marketing.  
 

Director Bauman moved for approval of Resolution 33-2024.  The motion was seconded by 
Director Bloom and passed unanimously. 

    
B. Resolution 34-2024 Authorizing the Interim General Manager to Enter into a Contract 
 for the Supply and Delivery of Driver Uniforms with U.S. Linen & Uniform DBA SunWest 

Sportswear  
 
 Mr. Kalmbach presented a resolution to enter into a contract with U.S. Linen & Uniform 

DBA SunWest Sportswear for the supply and delivery of driver uniforms. 
 

Director Bauman moved for approval of Resolution 34-2024.  The motion was seconded by 
Director Grimm and passed unanimously. 

  
C. Resolution 35-2024 Authorizing the Interim General Manager to Enter into a Contract with  

Schetky Bus & Van Sales to Purchase two (2) ADA Minivan Vehicles Utilizing Washington 
State Contract #07621  
 



Board of Directors Regular Meeting Minutes 
July 18, 2024 
Page 4 of 6  

Senior Manager of Fleet Maintenance Terry DeJuan presented a memorandum and resolution 
for Board approval to purchase two ADA minivan vehicles. 
 
Director Bauman moved for approval of Resolution 35-2024.  The motion was seconded by 
Director Maier and passed unanimously. 

    
D. Adoption of the Modified 2024 Annual Service Plan  

i. 2024 Revised Annual Service Plan Presentation  
ii. Public Hearing 

iii. Resolution 36-2024 Adopt the Modified 2024 Annual Service Plan & Implement 
 Recommended Service Changes as Outlined in the Document  
 

Mr. Sliger presented information on the Modified 2024 Annual Service Plan, including 
recommended service changes to be implemented, open house opportunities provided 
for public input, original adoption on November 9, 2023, and proposed modified 
Annual Service Plan developed in May of 2024. 
 
Chair McKay opened the Public Hearing on the adoption of the Modified 2024 Annual 
Service Plan to receive comments on the proposed plan; no comments were offered. 
Mr. Sliger stated a public comment was submitted late in the process, which suggested 
reconsidering delaying Route 67. 
 
Chair McKay then asked for a motion to approve the accompanying resolution.  
 

Director Bauman moved for approval of Resolution 36-2024.  The motion was seconded by 
Director Bloom and passed unanimously. 

 
E. Resolution 37-2024 Adopt the Chief Executive Officer Compensation Structure and  Remove 

from Nonrepresented Employee Market-Based Salary Structure 
 

BFT Legal Counsel Jeremy Bishop presented a resolution proposing to retitle General 
Manager to Chief Executive Officer and removing the Chief Executive Officer position from 
the nonrepresented employee market-based salary structure and position grades, as it is the 
only employee of the Board.  
 
Director Bauman moved for approval of Resolution 37-2024.  The motion was seconded by 
Director Grimm and passed unanimously. 
 

10. DISCUSSION & INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 
A. Release of 2024-2030 Transit Development Plan (TDP) for Public Comment 

Mr. Sliger presented the 2024-2030 Transit Development Plan, which is a Washington state 
requirement It was released for public comment. This document is a six-year outlook that 
details financial plans, service, and capital improvements.  Mr. Sliger highlighted the major 
difference in this plan from last year are the changes to service level projections.  

11. STAFF REPORTS & COMMENTS 
A. Legal Report 

Mr. Bishop announced he had no other news, other than an Executive Session would be held 



Board of Directors Regular Meeting Minutes 
July 18, 2024 
Page 5 of 6  

with possible action afterwards. 
 

B. Interim General Manager’s Report 
Interim General Manager Sarah Funk stated that Ben Franklin Transit is hosting the Washington 
State Transportation (WSTA) Conference and State Roadeo.  We last hosted this event in 2018, 
it’s an honor and privilege, and all the Board of Directors are invited.  It is going to kick off 
Sunday, August 11, with the state roadeo, which is a driving competition and also includes a 
maintenance component.  Monday through Wednesday, August 12-14, we will have the 
conference and vendor expo with a packed agenda.  She told Board members they are welcome 
to attend, and registration would be handled through the Executive Office.  
 
Ms. Funk handed out flyers for the Ben Franklin Fair and Rodeo.  This year Central Plateau 
Cleanup Company has agreed to provide reimbursement to Ben Franklin Transit for the cost of 
fares, so fairgoers will ride free on our buses and paratransit vehicles this year.  You will want 
to purchase your tickets early for the fair because we are going to get you there quickly.   
 
She reported that seven Dial-A-Ride drivers and one Dial-A-Ride dispatcher graduated on July 
11. The next hiring event for another Dial-A-Ride class is on Friday, August 2, and their training 
will start mid-September.  
   

12. BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS 
Director Didier stated in the last presentation for the long-term plan, there is a comment period, 
and he would like for them to announce where people can comment online and the dates they can 
comment.  He stated there are a lot of people listening and he does not think they know there’s a 
comment period.  
 
Mr. Sliger explained there is a 30-day public comment period, and they had two open houses 
already, one virtually and one at Three Rivers.  We will also have a public hearing associated with 
the action to approve at the August 8 Board meeting. He stated people can comment both on Ben 
Franklin Transit’s website and through social media.  It is very clear on our website to where you 
can submit your comments; you can go to the contact page on our website or call customer service 
and they can relay any comments.  Mr. Sliger stated Ben Franklin Transit is legally required to put 
information out about the comment period and where you can comment in the legal section of the 
newspaper, which was posted July 8, he believes.  The 30-day comment period starts July 8 and 
ends when we have the public hearing at the next Board meeting.  
 
Director Bloom stated that he noticed the sales tax report was not in the Board packet.  He asked 
if it was up or down. Chief Financial Officer Sarah Funk stated it was flat.  
 
Director Suttle stated that Friday was the first time in Ben Franklin Transit history that employees 
were not paid on time.  There were several drivers that had overdraft fees because they have 
automatic payments, and a couple of employees had their mortgages denied.  He stated that for 40 
years, they have been paid every other Friday. He received a bill today from his Department of 
Transportation physical that he had in April, as it was not paid. Mr. Suttle stated that we have been 
locked out of vendors recently, couldn’t get parts for the buses from Gillig, and McCurley would 
not give us parts for the Dial-A-Ride vehicles.  
 
Chief Financial Officer Sarah Funk stated that the deposit got released late and took full 



Board of Directors Regular Meeting Minutes 
July 18, 2024 
Page 6 of 6  

responsibility, as a step was missed.  They have new people processing payroll, and while it’s not 
acceptable, they were able to fix it on Friday and issue a same-day payment. They issued 
communication to staff and the team, which they can print, that if people have incurred any 
overdraft fees, they are happy to work on reimbursing those people.  She stated she has contacted 
all the financial institutions where the employees bank, and if the employees reach out to their 
financial institutions, they will have letters on file from Ben Franklin Transit, and they are happy 
to work on waiving any overdraft fees.  There was discussion among Board members on meeting 
the statutory requirement to deposit payroll and the overdraft fees incurred by employees.   
 
Director Bloom stated that he attended the Ben Franklin Transit picnic, he appreciated the time in 
the park with the rest of the employees. 
 

13. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Mr. Bishop announced an Executive Session would be held under RCW 42.30.110(1)(b), RCW 
42.30.140(4)(b), and RCW 42.30.110(1)(g) for twenty-five (25) minutes. The Board recessed at 
6:55 p.m. and returned to open session at 7:20 p.m., when they extended Executive Session for an 
additional ten (10) minutes.  The Board returned to open session at 7:33 p.m. with a motion 
following executive session. 

Director Bauman moved to extend the Interim General Manager’s authority to the August 
8, 2024, meeting.  The motion was seconded by Director Grimm and passed unanimously. 

 
14. OTHER 

There were no other agenda items.  
 

15. NEXT MEETING 
The next meeting will be held Thursday, August 8, 2024, at 6:00 p.m. 
 

16. ADJOURNMENT 
Chair McKay adjourned the meeting at 7:34 p.m. 

  

   

Anel Montejano, Clerk of the Board  Date 

































  

Memorandum  
 
Date: August 8, 2024 
 
To: Board of Directors 
 
From: Sarah Funk, Chief Financial Officer & Interim General Manager 
 
Re: Resolution 38-2024 Authorizing the General Manager to Declare Old and Failed 

Information Technology Items as Surplus and Dispose of per Resolution 62-2014 
 
Background 
Resolution 62-2014 states that Ben Franklin Transit (BFT) shall dispose of surplus property 
through a process at the discretion of the General Manager. The process will start with the value 
of the property, which will be established by determining current market value and researching 
past sales. Vehicles may be sold to nonprofit organizations, municipal corporations; other units of 
state or local government; or to the general public, which would include public notification 
regarding the sale of surplus property. 
 
Surplus property may be sold through a live or online auction with no minimum bid. Vehicles or 
equipment that has been totaled, has had mechanical failure, or is of no reasonable value for resale 
may be sold for scrap or salvage after BFT staff have determined the property to be unsafe or 
beyond repair. 

As a data security precaution, all hard drives will be removed from computer systems and will be 
disposed of through a separate destructive process. This effectively renders all computers 
inoperable and valueless. As such, they will not be able to be disposed of through auction or other 
sales processes; our recourse is disposition through recycling venues. 
 
Funding 
Budgeted: N/A 
Budget Source: N/A 
Funding Source: N/A  
 
Recommendation 
Approve Resolution 38-2024 Authorizing the General Manager to Declare Old and Failed 
Information Technology Items as Surplus and Dispose of per Resolution 62-2014. 
 

Forwarded as presented: 
 
 

____________________________________________ 
Sarah Funk, Interim General Manager



  

BEN FRANKLIN TRANSIT 
RESOLUTION 38-2024  

  
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE GENERAL MANAGER TO DECLARE THE 
ITEMS IDENTIFIED ON EXHIBIT A: “LIST OF SURPLUS INFORMATION 
TECHNOLOGY ITEMS” AS SURPLUS AND DISPOSE OF PER RESOLUTION 62-2014  
  

WHEREAS, Ben Franklin Transit (BFT) owns Information Technology computing 
items; 

  
WHEREAS, Information Technology computing items will wear out and fail in the 

normal course of their useful life; and 
 
WHEREAS, The items on the attached Exhibit A are beyond useful life or have failed 

and have no market or residual value; 
  
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BEN FRANKLIN TRANSIT BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS THAT:  
 

1. The General Manager is authorized to declare the identified Information Technology items 
surplus (which is attached to this resolution as Exhibit A: List of Surplus Information 
Technology Items and incorporated herein by reference). 
 

2. The General Manager is authorized to dispose of items listed on Exhibit A: List of Surplus 
Information Technology Items per Resolution 62-2014. 

 

APPROVED AT A REGULAR BEN FRANKLIN TRANSIT BOARD OF DIRECTORS meeting 
held Thursday, August 8, 2024, at 7122 W. Okanogan Place Building E, Kennewick, Washington. 
  
ATTEST: 
 
  
______________________________  _____________________________  
Anel Montejano, Clerk of the Board   Will McKay, Chair 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM BY:  
 
  
____________________________  
Jeremy J. Bishop, Legal Counsel 



CK Quantity Serial # Asset Tag Asset Name Device Type Manufacturer Model Manufacturer Date
AT 1 CN-0KM47V-CGD00-2BJ-A0O8-A00 N/A Monitor Holder Monitor Holder Dell 0KM47V N/A
AT 1 CN-0KM47V-CGD00-2BJ-A0OD-A00 N/A Monitor Holder Monitor Holder Dell 0KM47V N/A
AT 8 Unknown N/A Multimode Duplex Fabric Cable Multimode Duplex Fabric Cable IC Network N/A N/A
AT 1 PC416DMP001 N/A Fiber Optic Patch Cable Fiber Optic Patch Cable IC Network N/A N/A
AT 1 170926022038974 N/A Multimode Duplex Fabric Cable Multimode Duplex Fabric Cable IC Network X0008N28KF N/A
AT 1 170926022038984 N/A Multimode Duplex Fabric Cable Multimode Duplex Fabric Cable IC Network X0008N28KF N/A
AT 1 170926022038978 N/A Multimode Duplex Fabric Cable Multimode Duplex Fabric Cable IC Network X0008N28KF N/A
AT 1 170926022038969 N/A Multimode Duplex Fabric Cable Multimode Duplex Fabric Cable IC Network X0008N28KF N/A
AT 2 Unknown N/A Multimode Duplex Fabric Cable Multimode Duplex Fabric Cable IC Network 3155 N/A
AT 1 89014103279388900000 N/A Temprature monitoring system Temprature Monitoring System Temp Alert TM-CELL600-WS-3G 1/1/2017
AT 1 Unknown N/A Metal Hinges and Screws Metal Hinges and Screws N/A N/A N/A
AT 1 CN-0524N3-74261-49D-128L 051293 LCD Monitor LCD Monitor Dell P2414Hb 9/1/2014
AT 1 CN-0524N3-74261-49D-124L 051294 LCD Monitor LCD Monitor Dell P2414Hb 9/1/2014
AT 1 FP222ETF19002398 N/A Access Point Access Point Fortinet FAP-222E 7/9/2019
AT 1 7A2007L32141 N/A Service Battery Service Battery APC OM-816336C-700 N/A
AT 1 7A2020L11681 N/A Service Battery Service Battery APC OM-816336C-700 N/A
AT 1 7A2007L25445 N/A Service Battery Service Battery APC OM-816336C-700 N/A
AT 1 7A2007L32142 N/A Service Battery Service Battery APC OM-816336C-700 N/A
AT 1 5A1525T17698 N/A Service Battery Service Battery APC OM-816336 N/A
AT 1 7A2007L25446 N/A Service Battery Service Battery APC OM-816336C-700 N/A
AT 1 7A2007L25443 N/A Service Battery Service Battery APC OM-816336C-700 N/A
AT 1 5A1525T17661 N/A Service Battery Service Battery APC OM-816336 N/A
AT 1 626M82 054108 OptiPlex 7020 SFF OptiPlex 7020 SFF Mini Tower Dell D07S 1/1/2013
AT 1 7GR5XL N/A OptiPlex 780 OptiPlex 780 Micro Computer Tower Dell DCSM1F 2/9/2010
AT 1 6GYVKS1 N/A OptiPlex 790 MT OptiPlex 790 Micro Computer Tower Dell D09M 3/2/2012
AT 3 Unknown N/A Acces Control Lock Box Acces Control Lock Box N/A N/A N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A Securiton Power Box SECURITRON POWER BOX Assa Abloy BPS-24-6 N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A Access Power Controller Access Power Controller Altronix N/A N/A
AT 1 CN-0P0J39-WSL00-057-AZVL-A10 052388 Monitor Monitor Dell P2719H 5/1/2020
AT 8 Unknown N/A Ethernet Cable Ethernet Cable N/A N/A N/A
AT 1 G13QS13 N/A OptiPlex 7070 Ultra OptiPlex 7070 Ultra Computer Dell D13U N/A
AT 1 HFT61M2 051555 OptiPlex 5050 SFF OptiPlex 5050 SFF Desktop PC Dell D11S N/A
AT 1 20076PP25193637 N/A Payment Card Industry (PCI) PTS Payment Card Industry (PCI) PTS Ingencio IPP350-31T3154A N/A
AT 1 20076PP25193658 N/A Payment Card Industry (PCI) PTS Payment Card Industry (PCI) PTS Ingencio IPP350-31T3154A N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A Ethernet Cable Ethernet Cable N/A N/A N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A Metal Hinges and Screws Metal Hinges and Screws N/A N/A N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A Ethernet Cable Ethernet Cable N/A N/A N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A Ethernet Cable Ethernet Cable N/A N/A N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A Phone Cable Cable N/A N/A N/A
AT 1 1431K0418D6681441 051269 Access Point Access Point UBIQUITI UniFi AP N/A
AT 1 1431K0418D6681395 051278 Access Point Access Point UBIQUITI UniFi AP N/A
AT 1 Unknown 051277 Access Point Access Point UBIQUITI UniFi AP N/A
AT 1 1431K0418D66813B7 051270 Access Point Access Point UBIQUITI UniFi AP N/A
AT 1 1431G0418D60ADEBB N/A Access Point Access Point UBIQUITI UniFi AP N/A
AT 1 1417G0418D60AD956 051283 Access Point Access Point UBIQUITI UniFi AP N/A
AT 1 1431K0418D66813AD 051273 Access Point Access Point UBIQUITI UniFi AP N/A
AT 1 Unknown 051476 Laptop Laptop Dell Precision 7200 PR3F N/A
AT 1 JBNPM53 052731 Laptop Laptop Dell Latitude 5501 P80F 2020
AT 1 CW46573 052391 Laptop Laptop Dell Latitude 5501 P80F 2020
AT 1 GMB09L2 051579 Laptop Laptop Dell Inspiron P30E 2018
AT 1 G8QHRQ2 052984 Laptop Laptop Dell XPS P82G 2018
AT 1 Unknown 051274 Access Point Access Point N/A N/A N/A
AT 1 1636G802AABACB0D 051476 Access Point Access Point UBIQUITI UniFi AP N/A
AT 1 Unknown 051268 Access Point Access Point N/A N/A N/A
AT 1 1636G802AA8ACB125 051475 Access Point Access Point UBIQUITI UniFi AP N/A
AT 1 1649LZ0JX358 N/A Mouse Wireless Logitech M-R0056 N/A
AT 1 CN-0P5YFN-LO300-0AF-M2HY-A03 N/A Mouse Wireless Dell 0P5YFN 10/1/2020
AT 1 1716LZ0JUXZ8 N/A Mouse Wireless Logitech M-R0056 N/A

Ben Franklin Transit
Exhibit A – List of Surplus Information Technology (August 2024)

Last Updated: 06/30/2024

1  of  3



CK Quantity Serial # Asset Tag Asset Name Device Type Manufacturer Model Manufacturer Date

Ben Franklin Transit
Exhibit A – List of Surplus Information Technology (August 2024)

Last Updated: 06/30/2024

AT 1 CN-0TNTCT-PRC00-118-07C2 N/A Mouse Wireless Dell 0TNTCT 1/1/2021
AT 1 1202LZ06RLQ8 N/A Mouse Wireless Logitech M310 M-R0050 2013
AT 1 Unknown N/A VESA Adapter Plate VESA Adapter Plate N/A N/A N/A
AT 1 CN-09RRC7-44751-21I-0TBV N/A Mouse Wired Dell MS111-L N/A
AT 1 CN-0PRDV9-LO300-9B1-0CMS N/A Mouse Wired Dell MS116t1 N/A
AT 1 JNZTR0001 N/A Mouse Wireless Logitech T- R0001 N/A
AT 1 72604A64K701 N/A Mouse Wired Dell MOANUOA N/A
AT 1 1845LZ0KERV8 N/A Mouse Wireless Logitech T- R0001 N/A
AT 1 CN-0KJW6K-58732-45M-36MM-A02 N/A Mouse Wireless Dell MG-1090 N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A Ethernet Cable Ethernet Cable N/A N/A N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A Monitor Power Cable Accessory Unknown N/A N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A Switch Mode Power Supply Switch Mode Power Supply UBIQUITI GA-A240-050 N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A Keyboard Wireless Dell WK636p N/A
AT 1 CN-0KJW6K-56732-45M-36MK-A02 N/A Keyboard Wireless Dell KM632 N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A Keyboard Wireless Dell KB31221Wt N/A
AT 1 CN-009NK2-73826-69Q-1G6Q N/A Mouse Wired Dell MS116p N/A
AT 1 DKUSB1P02D7298049CK701 N/A Keyboard Wired Acer PR1101U N/A
AT 1 CN-0644G3-71616-65D-1FY4-A03 N/A Mouse Wired Dell KB216t N/A
AT 1 CN-0RKR0N-LO300-9B1-1A42-A03 N/A Keyboard Wired Dell KB216t N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A Keyboard Wireless Dell WK636t N/A
AT 7 Unknown N/A Telephone Wall Mount Telephone Wall Mount Avaya 9000 Series N/A
AT 5 Unknown N/A Jetpack Inseego Mifi Jetpack Inseego Mifi Verizon 8800L N/A
AT 1 Unknown 052881 Jetpack Inseego Mifi Jetpack Inseego Mifi Verizon 8800L N/A
AT 1 Unknown 052928 Jetpack Inseego Mifi Jetpack Inseego Mifi Verizon 8800L N/A
AT 1 Unknown 052935 Jetpack Inseego Mifi Jetpack Inseego Mifi Verizon 8800L N/A
AT 1 Unknown 052831 Jetpack Inseego Mifi Jetpack Inseego Mifi Verizon 8800L N/A
AT 1 Unknown 052932 Jetpack Inseego Mifi Jetpack Inseego Mifi Verizon 8800L N/A
AT 1 Unknown 052879 Jetpack Inseego Mifi Jetpack Inseego Mifi Verizon 8800L N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A Keyboard Wireless Dell KB3121Wt N/A
AT 1 CN- 0TNTCT-PRCC00-06F-02WY N/A Mouse Wireless Dell 0TNTCT 6/1/2020
AT 1 Unknown N/A Headset Wireless Plantronics W8220T N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A Headset Wireless Plantronics W8220T N/A
AT 1 2114ME03HRP8 N/A Headset Wired Logi N/A N/A
AT 1 820-002546 N/A Keyboard Wireless Logitech Y-R0053 N/A
AT 1 2327LZD32BT8 N/A Mouse Wireless Logitech M-R0056 N/A
AT 1 CN-07R1K37445-41HGX6L 051244 Monitor Monitor Dell P2314Ht 1/1/2014
AT 1 CN-05P02F-71581-272-0AFD-A01 N/A Keyboard Wired Dell KB4021 N/A
AT 1 CN-04TD4G-WSL00-064EZZW-A08 052517 Monitor Monitor Dell U2419H 6/1/2020
AT 1 CN-0G8TVH-QDC00-0408F3S-A09 052266 Monitor Monitor Dell P2419H 4/1/2020
AT 1 AS1440141731 051290 Service Battery Service Battery APC SMT3000RM2U N/A
AT 1 5A2118T97279 N/A Service Battery Service Battery APC N/A N/A
AT 12 Unknown N/A Metal Hinges and Screws Metal Hinges and Screws Unknown N/A N/A
AT 3 Unknown N/A USB cable USB cable Unknown N/A N/A
AT 1 2003AP02CG38 N/A Web Camera Web Camera Logitech V-U0018 N/A
AT 1 CN-05FDDV-12966-82L-8DB-A05 N/A Docking Station Docking Station Dell K17A N/A
AT 1 FP320C3X17004445 N/A Wireless Access Point Wireless Access Point Fortinet FAP-320C N/A
AT 1 FP222ETF19002632 N/A Wireless Access Point Wireless Access Point Fortinet FAP-222E-A N/A
AT 1 FP222ETF19002367 N/A Wireless Access Point Wireless Access Point Fortinet FAP-222E-A N/A
AT 1 FCMMD55719000265 N/A IP Dome Camera IP Dome Camera Fortinet FCN-MD50 N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A Hard Drive 500 GBHard Drive Apollo 20070716 N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A Hard Drive 500 GBHard Drive Apollo 19000360 N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A Hard Drive 500 GBHard Drive Apollo 20070716 N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A Hard Drive 500 GBHard Drive Apollo 20070716 N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A Hard Drive 500 GBHard Drive Apollo 12001180 N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A Hard Drive 1TB Hard Drive Apollo 19000357 N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A Hard Drive 1TB Hard Drive Apollo 12001176 N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A Hard Drive 500 GBHard Drive Apollo 19000359 N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A Hard Drive 500 GBHard Drive Apollo 19000353 N/A

2  of  3



CK Quantity Serial # Asset Tag Asset Name Device Type Manufacturer Model Manufacturer Date

Ben Franklin Transit
Exhibit A – List of Surplus Information Technology (August 2024)

Last Updated: 06/30/2024

AT 1 Unknown N/A Hard Drive 500 GBHard Drive Apollo 19000352 N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A Hard Drive 1TB Hard Drive Apollo N/A N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A Hard Drive 1TB Hard Drive Apollo 12001178 N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A Hard Drive 1TB Hard Drive Apollo 12005260 N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A Hard Drive 1TB Hard Drive Apollo 12004577 N/A
AT 1 15289SC80798982 N/A Credit Card Reader Credit Card Reader Ingencio ISC250-V4 N/A
AT 1 15230SC80716079 N/A Credit Card Reader Credit Card Reader Ingencio ISC250-OPT N/A
AT 1 15265SC80768765 N/A Credit Card Reader Credit Card Reader Ingencio ISC250-OPT N/A
AT 1 15230SC80716228 N/A Credit Card Reader Credit Card Reader Ingencio ISC250-OPT N/A
AT 1 15228SC80715078 N/A Credit Card Reader Credit Card Reader Ingencio ISC250-OPT N/A
AT 1 HD408C4BZKZ/236/USr-2 Bus No: 5373 Bullet Connector Microtek Groove 52 HPN N/A
AT 1 HD408F82D8G/237/USr2 Bus No: 5369 Bullet Connector Microtek Groove 52 HPN N/A
AT 1 HD408BWIN4Q/236/USr2 Bus No: 5308 Bullet Connector Microtek Groove 52 HPN N/A
AT 1 DQVPFAA00274402F7A3000 051566 Personal Computer Personal Computer Acer VZ5W2 11/3/2017
AT 1 A2035A002560 N/A Keyboard Keyboard Kensington M01394-K N/A
AT 1 CN-009NK2-73826-69H-0R3T N/A Mouse Wired Dell MS116p N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A AC Power Adaptor AC Power Adaptor Acer PA-1131-16 8/1/2017
AT 4 Unknown N/A USB cable USB cable Unknown N/A N/A
AT 1 Unknown N/A Metal Hinges and Screws Metal Hinges and Screws Unknown N/A N/A

3  of  3



  

 
Memorandum          
 
Date: August 8, 2024 
 
To: Sarah Funk, Interim General Manager 
 
RE: Resolution 39-2024 Recommending Cubic Transportation Services, Inc. for the Award of 

the Mobile Ticketing Services Contract  
 
OBJECTIVE  
To seek contracting authority for a mobile ticketing system solution to enable the public to 
purchase tickets via smart phones and other electronic devices. 
 
Background 
In September 2021, Ben Franklin Transit (BFT) initiated the Comprehensive Fare Study which 
resulted in the Board requesting staff proceed with the fare structure option that includes fare 
collection technology, but takes a “Tech Lite” approach, focused on mobile ticketing and 
payments. This will significantly reduce the cost of digital fare payment infrastructure. It will 
also streamline processes for internal staff. 
 
The technology lite approach is focused on visual confirmation of tickets and will not result in 
additional onboard technology being implemented. 
 
Proposal Evaluation and Recommendation 
BFT staff advertised proposals for a mobile ticketing system in the Tri-City Herald, Seattle Daily 
Journal of Commerce, BFT’s website, and 46 vendors downloaded the proposal package. 
  
BFT received eight (8) proposals, and they were determined to be responsive and responsible. 
Evaluators rated the initial proposals and then conducted interviews with the top four (4) highest-
rated firms. Based on the two (2) phases of evaluations, Cubic Transportation Systems, Inc. was 
selected as the highest-rated firm based on the evaluation criteria specified in the proposal.  
 
Evaluations summary is listed below:  
 

Consultant Firms Initial 
Evaluation 

Points  
(Possible 100)  

Initial Evaluation Points with 
Oral Interview Points  

(Possible 30 for a Total of 130 Points)   

Evaluated 
Cost Over 
Five Years  

Arcadis 71 71 + 16 = 87 $126,373 
Cubic 
Transportation 
Systems, Inc.  

81 81 + 26 = 107 $234,300 

Paragon, ID  80 80 + 18 = 98 $156,592 
Token Transit   76 76 + 23 = 99 $362,230 
Direct Technology 
Holdings, Inc 

61 Not Included in Phase 2 $335,635 



  

MJM Innovations   61 Not Included in Phase 2 $390,100 
Onikom LLC 41 Not Included in Phase 2 $776,250 
ZED Digital    65 Not Included in Phase 2 $338,700 

 
Labor Resources 
Implementation of a technology lite solution is not expected to change approved headcount. A 
marketing outreach campaign for consumers and distribution networks will be developed.   
 
Funding 
Budgeted: Yes 
Budget & Funding Source: Annual Operating 
 
The estimated cost for the first year, including implementation, is $46,860 and over the possible 
full five-year term is $234,300.    
 
Recommendation 
The staff’s recommendation is to award the Mobile Ticketing Services Contract to Cubic 
Transportation Systems, Inc.  
 
 

Forwarded as presented: 
 
 

___________________________________________ 
Sarah Funk, Interim General Manager 

 



  

 
BEN FRANKLIN TRANSIT 

 
RESOLUTION 39-2024 

 
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE INTERIM GENERAL MANAGER TO ENTER 
INTO A CONTRACT FOR MOBILE TICKETING SERVICES WITH CUBIC 
TRANSPORTATION SYSTEMS, INC.  
 

WHEREAS, BFT is in the need for a mobile ticketing system; and 
 

WHEREAS, BFT staff advertised and requested proposals for Mobile Ticketing 
Services; and 

 
WHEREAS, BFT received eight (8) proposals, all eight (8) proposals were determined 

to be responsive and responsible.  The top four (4) evaluated firms out of 
the eight (8) participated in oral interviews, with Cubic Transit receiving 
the highest number of points; and  

 
WHEREAS, Funding for Mobile Ticketing Services will be provided from the 

Operations Budget.   
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BEN FRANKLIN TRANSIT BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS THAT: 
 
The Interim General Manager is authorized to enter into Contract #1477 for Mobile Ticketing 
Services with Cubic Transportation Systems, Inc. in the amount not-to-exceed amount of 
$255,387 for an up to five-year contract, with a 9% change order authority.    

 
APPROVED AT A REGULAR BEN FRANKLIN TRANSIT BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
MEETING held Thursday, August 8, 2024, at 7122 W. Okanogan Place Building E, Kennewick, 
Washington. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________  _________________________________ 
Anel Montejano, Clerk of the Board   Will McKay, Chair 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM BY: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Jeremy Bishop, Legal Counsel 
 
 



Memorandum  

Date: August 8, 2024 
 
To: Sarah Funk, Interim General Manager 

From:  Kevin Sliger, Chief Planning & Development Officer  

Re: Adoption of 2024-2030 Transit Development Plan for Public Comment  

Background 
To ensure compliance with RCW 35.58.2795, the Board of Directors must adopt the annual Transit 
Development Plan (TDP). This plan is required to be prepared and submitted to each municipality 
within the transit service area, the regional Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO), the 
Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT) Public Transportation Office, and the 
Transportation Improvement Board by September 1 each year. 

The TDP must include the following elements: 

• An annual update on BFT’s progress in 2024, with a focus on cost-effectiveness. 
• A Capital Improvement Program (CIP) achievable within the 2024-2030 timeframe. 
• A Transit Asset Management assessment to ensure fleet and facility upkeep. 
• A fully constrained budget for projects and services committed for 2024 and 2025. 
• A financial forecast detailing the revenues and expenses needed for planned services, 

preservation, and capital improvements through 2027-2030. 
• A process for public, agency, and jurisdictional comments on the Plan before its Board 

adoption. 

The TDP serves as a reference for updating the regional Transportation Improvement Program 
(TIP) prepared by the Benton Franklin Council of Governments, BFT’s designated Metropolitan 
Planning Organization. Summary tables of the BFT Capital Improvement Program (CIP) and 
Program of Projects (POP) will be revised and formatted by the end of 2024 for direct input into the 
Statewide Transportation Improvement Program (STIP). 

An essential part of the TDP process is the 30-day public comment period, which requires BFT to 
make the draft TDP available for public review prior to its adoption by the Board of Directors. This 
process concludes with a formal public hearing on the TDP; staff modifications and edits based on 
public comment; if required, and Board approval of the adopted TDP document. 
 
Intent of the TDP 
The TDP narrative outlines how BFT can help meet the long-range public transportation priorities 
of Benton and Franklin Counties. The document aligns with state and local goals, objectives, and 
strategies. BFT uses targets and examples of achievement to ensure these principles are applied, 
reassuring that citizens’ tax dollars and government awards are effectively addressing the 
expanding demands of the Public Transit Benefit Area. 
 
  



Modifications to TDP since release on July 8, 2024 
The TDP has undergone minimal modifications since its initial release. The following items outline 
the key updates: 

• Element 2: 
o Amenities and Installation section was added  

 Figure 15: Summary of Amenity Improvement 
 Table 1: Recent Amenity Installations 

o Figures 3 through 12 were updated to include April through June 2024 data 
 Figures 3: Monthly UPT For All Modes 
 Figure 4: Total System UPT 
 Figure 5: Monthly Fixed Route UPT 
 Figure 6: Monthly UPT - Excluding Fixed Route 
 Figure 7: Month UPT - Fixed Route 
 Figure 8: DAR Monthly UPT (Pre-COVID) 
 Figure 9: DAR Monthly UPT (Since COVID) 
 Figure 10: Vanpool/Rideshare Monthly UPT 
 Figure 11: CONNECT Monthly UPT 
 Figure 12: ARC of Tri-Cities Monthly UPT 

• Element 4:  
o Addition of Transit Asset Management (TAM) section  

 Added Tables 7 through 10 to incorporate State of Good Repair  
 Table 7: Fixed Route Fleet Summary 
 Table 8: Dial-A-Ride Fleet Summary 
 Table 9: The Arc of the Tri-Cities Fleet Summary 
 Table 10: Non-revenue Vehicles & Equipment 

o Addition of safety performance measurements and targets section 
 Figure 28: SMS Components  

• Element 8: 
o Table 20: Financials were updated to incorporate Vanpool projections for 

anticipated growth 
• Addition of Appendix 5: Public Comment Period, and 6 Board Adoption 

Funding 
Budgeted: N/A  
Budget Source: N/A  
Funding Source: N/A 

Recommendation 
Request the Board of Directors Adopt the Ben Franklin Transit’s 2024-2030 Transit 
Development Plan (TDP). 
 
 

Forwarded as presented: 
 
 

____________________________________________ 
Sarah Funk, Interim General Manager 

  



BEN FRANKLIN TRANSIT 
 

RESOLUTION 40-2024 
 

A RESOLUTION TO ADOPT THE 2024-2030 TRANSIT DEVELOPMENT PLAN (TDP) 
AS PRESENTED 
 

WHEREAS, BFT has completed the annual Transit Development Plan (TDP) Update, as 
required by statute; and  

 
WHEREAS, BFT has made the TDP available for public review and comment for 30 days 

prior to its adoption. 
 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BEN FRANKLIN TRANSIT BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS THAT: 
 

The Ben Franklin Transit’s 2024-2030 Transit Development Plan has been adopted. 
 

APPROVED AT A REGULAR BEN FRANKLIN TRANSIT BOARD OF DIRECTORS meeting 
held Thursday, August 08, 2024, 7122 W. Okanogan Place Building E, Room 303, Kennewick, 
Washington.  
 
ATTEST:  
 
  
______________________________  _____________________________  
Anel Montejano, Clerk of the Board  William McKay, Chairman  
 
 
 
 APPROVED AS TO FORM BY:  
 
  
____________________________  
Jeremy J. Bishop, Legal Counsel  
 
 



TRANSIT 
DEVELO PMENT PLAN
20 24 -20 30

We’re Going Places! ~ Try Transit

bft.org Planning@bft.org 1000 Columbia Park Trail, Richland



TODAY'S 
AGENDA

Understanding the TDP1

Element 1: Public Hearing & Distribution2

Element 2: Service Area, Operations, Facilities3

Element 3: State & Agency Goals, 
Objectives, & Action Strategies

4

Element 4: Local Performance 
Measure & Targets

5

Element 5: Plan Consistency6

Element 6: Planned Capital Expenses7

Element 7: Planned Operating Expenses8

Element 8: Multiyear Financial Plan9

Element 9: Projects Of Regional Significance10



What is the TDP?

The Transit Development Plan (TDP) is a six-year projection of Ben 
Franklin Transit's (BFT) operating and capital expenditures, goals, 
accomplishments, and organizational structure.

UNDERSTANDING 
THE TDP

Updates
The TDP is updated each year to align with growth and demand 
projections. 

Key components
• Financial projections
• Operational goals
• Strategic initiatives 
• funded by:

⚬  FTA 
⚬ state
⚬ local resources

• Costs
• Revenue
• Service metrics
• Capital investments
• Fleet size

Requirement
It is required annually by the Washington State Department of 

Transportation (WSDOT). 



Public Comment Period July 8 to August  8

• Open House
⚬ In-person @ Three Rivers July 11
⚬ Virtual July 17 @ 12 pm

• Public Hearing
⚬ Location: Benton County 

Administration Building
⚬ In person and virtual August 8

ELEMENT 1: PUBLIC HEARING 
& DISTRIBUTION

Feedback & Adoption

•  Publicized
⚬ Local Paper
⚬ Website
⚬ Social Media
⚬ Transit Center Platforms
⚬ Buses
⚬ Emails to jurisdictional and 

community partners
• Comments

⚬ Planning@bft.org
⚬ Customer Service 509.735.5100 

• Adoption: August 8, 2024
• Distribution of final document

⚬ WSDOT Public Transportation 
Division 

⚬ Transportation Improvement 
Board

⚬ All cities, counties, and regional 
transportation planning 
organizations within the Public 
Transit Benefit Area

Adoption and DistributionCommunity Outreach



HISTORY

Formed in 1981, BFT serves Benton and Franklin 
Counties and annexations with Fixed Route, Dial-A-
Ride, Vanpool and on demand CONNECT services, 
relying mainly on sales tax revenue and grants. BFT 
operates financially under a single enterprise fund 
using accrual accounting.

ELEMENT 2: SERVICE AREA, OPERATIONS, FACILITIES

SERVICE AREA

BFT operates in a 625 square mile area across Benton and 
Franklin counties, including Kennewick, Pasco, Richland, 
West Richland, Benton City, Prosser, and nearby 
unincorporated areas. Boundaries expand with city 
annexations. BFT Board of Directors are appointed by 
each city and county plus a non-voting Union member.

OPERATIONS

BFT continuously evaluates services to ensure fiscal 
responsibility. Recent adjustments in 2021, including 
new high-frequency routes and expanded Sunday 
service have led to increased ridership with BFT among 
the first in the country to surpass pre-COVID levels.

ENHANCING TRANSIT SERVICES

• Training
• Language assistance
• Future plans

⚬ Fixed route, DAR, Rideshare, CONNECT, ARC, 
Facilities, Park and Ride

• Intercity and Regional Connections



TOTAL SYSTEM
PASSENGER TRIPS ( 20 19- Ap r. 20 24 )

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

350,000
Ja

n 
20

19
M

ar
 2

01
9

M
ay

 2
01

9
Ju

l 2
01

9
Se

p 
20

19
N

ov
 2

01
9

Ja
n 

20
20

M
ar

 2
02

0
M

ay
 2

02
0

Ju
l 2

02
0

Se
p 

20
20

N
ov

 2
02

0
Ja

n 
20

21
M

ar
 2

02
1

M
ay

 2
02

1
Ju

l 2
02

1
Se

p 
20

21
N

ov
 2

02
1

Ja
n 

20
22

M
ar

 2
02

2
M

ay
 2

02
2

Ju
l 2

02
2

Se
p 

20
22

N
ov

 2
02

2
Ja

n 
20

23
M

ar
 2

02
3

M
ay

 2
02

3
Ju

l 2
02

3
Se

p 
20

23
N

ov
 2

02
3

Ja
n 

20
24

M
ar

 2
02

4



Mo n t h ly  Pa s s e n g e r Trip s  
All Mo d e s  ( 20 19- Ap ril 20 24 )

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

Ja
n 

20
19

M
ar

 2
01

9

M
ay

 2
01

9

Ju
l 2

01
9

Se
p 

20
19

N
ov

 2
01

9

Ja
n 

20
20

M
ar

 2
02

0

M
ay

 2
02

0

Ju
l 2

02
0

Se
p 

20
20

N
ov

 2
02

0

Ja
n 

20
21

M
ar

 2
02

1

M
ay

 2
02

1

Ju
l 2

02
1

Se
p 

20
21

N
ov

 2
02

1

Ja
n 

20
22

M
ar

 2
02

2

M
ay

 2
02

2

Ju
l 2

02
2

Se
p 

20
22

N
ov

 2
02

2

Ja
n 

20
23

M
ar

 2
02

3

M
ay

 2
02

3

Ju
l 2

02
3

Se
p 

20
23

N
ov

 2
02

3

Ja
n 

20
24

M
ar

 2
02

4

Motorbus (MB/DO) Rideshare (VP/DO) DIAL-A-RIDE (DR/DO) ARC OF TRI-CITIES (DR/PT) CONNECT (DT/PT)



TRANSIT DEFINITIONS

Customer service with 
mult iple routes and 
enhanced passenger 

amenit ies.  

TRANSIT CENTER

• 22nd Avenue
• Knight Street 
• Three Rivers 
• Queensgate
• Downtown 

Pasco
• West Pasco

• Dayton
• West Richland
• Stacy Avenue
• Benton City
• Southridge

In-l ine,  minimal  route 
connections,  parking 

components,  and 
recovery t ime when 

feasible.

TRANSFER POINT



WSDOT's Vision
• Goals: Expanding public transportation supports preservation, safety, stewardship, mobility, economic vitality, and environment.
• Benefits: Improves service for vulnerable populations, reduces emissions, lowers travel costs, and enhances resiliency.

BFT's Commitment
• Alignment: BFT aligns its goals with WSDOT and other transit agencies.
• 2024 Priorities:

⚬ Increase transit investments
⚬ Address workforce challenges
⚬ Promote zero-emission fleets
⚬ Support behavioral health services
⚬ Ensure efficient transit delivery

Future Plans
• Strategic Update: BFT will update its goals and mission statement in late 2025, leveraging consultants for planning.
• State Alignment: BFT’s priorities align with the Washington State Transportation Plan.

ELEMENT 3: STATE & 
AGENCY GOALS, 
OBJ ECTIVES, & 
ACTION STRATEGIES



FUNDING CONSIDERATIONS

• This plan assumes adequate funding for all 
highlighted projects. BFT's three primary revenue 
sources are:
⚬ Federal and State Grants: These will fund capital 

projects, allowing more local funds for 
operations.

⚬ Fare Revenue and Ridership: BFT aims to grow 
ridership, with no fare changes projected in the 
next six years without public input and a Title VI 
equity analysis.

⚬ Sales Tax Revenue: BFT collects a 0.6% sales tax 
within the PTBA, as authorized by voters, to fund 
public transportation.

FUNDING RISK CONSIDERATIONS

• BFT faces funding risks during the 2025-2030 period. 
⚬ State operating grants are at risk if Washington 

State Initiative 2117, which seeks to repeal the 
Climate Commitment Act (CCA), is approved in 
November 2024. This would eliminate the 
funding for the Move Ahead Washington (MAW) 
package, reducing BFT's state operating and 
capital grant funding by $49.8 million. 
Consequently, BFT would need to adjust its 
Transit Development Plan, potentially reducing 
services and scaling back capital projects.

BFT 2024-2030 Transit Development Plan



• BFT serves as the primary regional transportation 
provider, connecting people to jobs, schools, 
shopping, and social services.

• Supports economic growth within the PTBA, 
complementing WSDOT's highway improvements.

Economic Vitality

ELEMENT 4 : LOCAL PERFORMANCE 
MEASURE & TARGETS

• Focuses on enhancing fixed route transit 
services to meet regional development needs.

• Plans to improve service frequency, coverage, 
and connectivity.

Mission and Enhancements

• Collaborates with member jurisdictions to align 
service expansions with local economic goals.

• Recent initiatives include new transit hubs 
funded by WSDOT Regional Mobility Grants.

Collaboration & Init iat ives

• Establishes performance measures for long-
range planning, using WSDOT's performance 
targets.

• Ongoing projects include Queensgate Transit 
Center and West Pasco Transit Center to 
foster economic development.

Future Planning

BFT's strategies focus on advancing economic vitality through improved transit  services, strategic collaborations, and 
long-range planning to support  regional growth and connectivity.



Promote Transit-
Oriented 
Development

BFT partners with local 
jurisdictions and developers 
on transit-oriented projects 
to integrate spaces near 
transit hubs, reducing 
single-occupant vehicle use 
and promoting sustainable 
growth.

ELEMENT 5 : PLAN CONSISTENCY

Participate in long-
range transportat ion 
planning

BFT actively participates in 
regional and local 
transportation planning to 
ensure future 
infrastructure aligns with 
public transit needs and 
intercity connections. 
Collaborate with partner 
jurisdictions on their GMA 
required Comprehensive 
Plans.

Enhance 
accessibility

BFT collaborates with 
local jurisdictions to 
ensure transit services 
and facilities are 
accessible to all, including 
individuals with 
disabilities and seniors, 
advocating for universal 
design principles.

Support  environmental 
sustainability init iat ives

Engage with local 
governments and 
environmental organizations 
to reduce the transportation 
sector's carbon footprint by 
expanding electric buses, 
promoting renewable energy, 
and supporting green 
infrastructure.

https://www.bfcog.us/
https://www.bfcog.us/


• The six-year Capital Improvement 
Program (CIP) aligns with BFT's 
goals and Transit Asset 
Management Plan (TAM), focusing 
on resource prioritization, budget 
development, and system 
enhancement.

• Programs within the CIP combine 
projects to achieve common 
objectives, considering fiscal 
impacts and potential external 
funding opportunities for 
unfunded projects.

ELEMENT 6 : PLANNED CAPITAL EXPENSES



The 2024-2030 BFT Transit 
Development Plan features 
substantial construction, including 
the new Operations Expansion 
Building and enhancements to 
transit centers and bus stops, with a 
total CIP budget of $174 million, 
leaving $147 million for distribution 
after expenses

BFT CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT 20 24 - 20 30



• 2024: Focus on minimal changes in Fixed Route 
services amid potential funding shifts due to 
Initiative 2117; implementation of Queensgate 
Transit Center.

• 2025: Incremental service increases in Pasco to 
accommodate growth; potential introduction of 
Express Routes pending funding.

• 2026: Planned introduction of Downtown and 
West Pasco Transit Centers.

ELEMENT 7: 
PLANNED OPERATING EXPENSES

2024-2026 Transit  Service Summary:

• BFT aims to:
⚬ Expand geographically
⚬ Increase service frequencies
⚬ Enhance amenities
⚬ Utilize technology for efficiency
⚬ Improve inclusivity with bilingual services 

and outreach
⚬ Improve experience for current riders and 

attract more choice riders

Future Outlook (2027+):



 2024         
Budget 

 2025 
Projected 

 2026 
Projected 

 2027 
Projected 

 2028 
Projected 

 2029 
Projected 

 2030 
Projected 

Sales Tax Revenue 43,809,548       54,865,000       56,785,000       58,602,000       60,653,000       62,594,000       64,785,000       
Passenger Fares 1,225,000         1,200,000         1,200,000         1,200,000         1,200,000         1,200,000         1,200,000         
Other Local 1,808,840         246,000            253,000            261,000            269,000            277,000            285,000            
Washington Transit Support Grants 7,000,000         3,500,000         3,500,000         3,500,000         3,500,000         3,500,000         3,500,000         
State Operating Grants -                   3,500,000         3,500,000         3,500,000         3,500,000         3,500,000         3,500,000         
Federal Operating Grants 9,800,000         13,283,124       11,937,499       11,937,499       11,937,499       11,937,499       11,937,499       
CARES/CRRSSA/ARP Grants -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

Total Operating Revenues 63,643,388       76,594,124       77,175,499       79,000,499       81,059,499       83,008,499       85,207,499       
Operating Expenses

Labor & Benefits 41,679,299       43,346,000       44,863,000       46,658,000       48,058,000       49,500,000       50,985,000       
Professional Services 4,498,110         4,611,000         4,726,000         4,726,000         4,726,000         4,726,000         4,726,000         
Fuel & Lubricants 6,151,303         6,459,000         6,717,000         6,952,000         7,161,000         7,376,000         7,597,000         
Tires & Tubes 322,031            354,000            372,000            387,000            399,000            411,000            423,000            
Materials/Supplies 3,726,780         4,099,000         4,304,000         4,476,000         4,610,000         4,748,000         4,890,000         
Insurance and Liability 1,403,598         1,544,000         1,621,000         1,702,000         1,787,000         1,876,000         1,970,000         
Purchased Transportation 4,043,441         4,246,000         4,416,000         4,593,000         4,731,000         4,873,000         5,019,000         
All Else 1,818,826         1,892,000         1,949,000         2,007,000         2,067,000         2,129,000         2,193,000         
Service Expansion -                   -                   253,300            905,550            1,442,990         2,134,940         2,705,100         

Operating Expenses Total 63,643,388       66,551,000       69,221,300       72,406,550       74,981,990       77,773,940       80,508,100       

ELEMENT 8 : MULTIYEAR FINANCIAL PLAN



REVENUE HOURS BY MODE

Revenue Hours by Mode 2024F 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030
Fixed Route Revenue Hours 226,000 226,000 226,000 228,000 233,000 237,000 242,000
Expansion Hours -           -           2,000      5,000      4,000      5,000      4,000      
Cost/Revenue Hour 119.38$  122.96$  126.65$  130.45$  134.36$  138.39$  142.54$  

Expansion Cost  $           -    $           -    $253,300  $652,250  $537,440  $691,950  $570,160 
Dail-A-Ride Revenue Hours 106,000 109,000 110,500 111,500 114,100 116,200 118,800
Expansion Hours 3,000      1,500      1,000      2,600      2,100      2,600      2,100      
Cost/Revenue Hour 134.44$  138.47$  142.62$  146.90$  151.31$  155.85$  160.53$  

Expansion Cost  $403,320  $207,705  $142,620  $381,940  $317,751  $405,210  $337,113 
Vanpool Revenue Hours 44,000 47,000 50,000 52,000 56,000 59,000 63,000
Expansion Hours 3,000      3,000      2,000      4,000      3,000      4,000      3,000      
Cost/Revenue Hour 67.07$    69.08$    71.15$    73.28$    75.48$    77.74$    80.07$    

Expansion Cost  $201,210  $207,240  $142,300  $293,120  $226,440  $310,960  $240,210 



• Route planning
• Infrastructure for charging 

stations (i.e., bus and auto)
• Queensgate Dr. extension

QUEENSGATE

ELEMENT 9 : 
PROJ ECTS OF REGIONAL SIGNIFICANCE

• Transit oriented 
development 

• Park and ride
• Infrastructure for 

charging station 

WEST PASCO

•Customer Service and 
ADA presence*
*Project may have 
significant scope change 
or be reconsidered

DOWNTOWN 
PASCO

• Continued bus stop amenities 
updates

• Security Upgrades
• Customer Interfacing Information
• Future Benton City, Prosser & 

Southridge bus and park & ride 
facilities

OTHER 
UPDATES



ANY QUESTIONS?

BFT 2024-2030 Transit  Development Plan

Vie w  t h e  c o m p le t e  
TDP b y  Sc a n n in g  
QR Co d e  



2024-2029 BFT TDP   

 
   

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  



  

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 1 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Information 
This material can be made available in an alternate format by emailing planning@bft.org or by calling customer 
service at 509.735.5100. Persons who are deaf or hard of hearing may make a request by calling the Washington 
State Relay at 711 or 800.833.6384. 

 
 

Title VI Notice to Public 

Ben Franklin Transit (BFT) board approved a policy to assure that no person shall, on the grounds of race, color, national 
origin or sex, as provided by Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, be excluded from participation in, be denied the 
benefits of, or be otherwise discriminated against under any of its programs and activities. For additional information 
on our Title VI policy or process, visit our bft.org/civil-rights or call .509.734.5107   



  

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 2 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Element 1: Public Hearing & Distribution ............................................................................................................... 4 
Element 2: Description of Service Area, Operations, & Facilities ............................................................................ 5 

History ........................................................................................................................................................................ 5 
Service Area ................................................................................................................................................................ 5 

Tri-Cities Region ..................................................................................................................................................... 6 
Operations & Service Provided .................................................................................................................................. 7 

Enhancing Transit Services .................................................................................................................................. 10 
Fixed Route .......................................................................................................................................................... 11 
Dial-A-Ride ........................................................................................................................................................... 13 
Vanpool/Rideshare .............................................................................................................................................. 14 
CONNECT ............................................................................................................................................................. 16 
The Arc of Tri-Cities.............................................................................................................................................. 18 
Fares .................................................................................................................................................................... 19 

Facilities .................................................................................................................................................................... 20 
Amenities and Installation ................................................................................................................................... 21 
Expansion ............................................................................................................................................................. 22 
PTBA Park & Ride Counts ..................................................................................................................................... 22 

InterCity and Regional connections.......................................................................................................................... 31 
Element 3: State & Agency Goals, Objectives, & Action Strategies....................................................................... 32 

Funding Considerations ............................................................................................................................................ 34 
Funding Risk Considerations .................................................................................................................................... 34 

Element 4: Local Performance Measures & Targets ............................................................................................. 35 
Fixed Route On-time Performance (OTP) ................................................................................................................. 36 
Transit Asset Management (TAM) ........................................................................................................................... 36 

Estimating Capital Investment Needs .................................................................................................................. 36 
Investment Prioritization ..................................................................................................................................... 36 
TAM and SGR Policy ............................................................................................................................................. 37 
BFT State of Good Repair ..................................................................................................................................... 37 

 Safety Performance Measurements & Targets ....................................................................................................... 40 
Five-Year Outlook ................................................................................................................................................ 40 

Element 5: Plan Consistency ................................................................................................................................ 41 
Element 6: Planned Capital Expenses ................................................................................................................... 43 

Capital Improvement Program ................................................................................................................................. 43 
Element 7: Planned Operating Changes ............................................................................................................... 47 
Element 8: Multiyear Financial Plan ..................................................................................................................... 48 

Service Expansion Revenue Hour Projections for Cash Flow ................................................................................... 49 
Element 9: Projects of Regional Significance ........................................................................................................ 49 
Works Cited ......................................................................................................................................................... 50 
Appendix ............................................................................................................................................................. 51 

Appendix 1: BFT Organizational Chart ...................................................................................................................... 51 
Appendix 2: CIP Year By Year ................................................................................................................................... 52 
Appendix 3: Program of Projects Cost Split .............................................................................................................. 53 
Appendix 4: Fleet Replacement Gap ........................................................................................................................ 54 
Appendix 5: Public Comment Period ........................................................................................................................ 55 
Appendix 6: Board Adoption .................................................................................................................................... 55  

 

MAPS 
Map 1: BFT Public Transit Benefit Area (PTBA) .............................................................................................................. 5 
Map 2: BFT Fixed Route System Weekdays through Saturdays ................................................................................... 12 
Map 3: BFT Fixed Route System On Sundays ............................................................................................................... 12 
Map 4: BFT CONNECT Service Zones ............................................................................................................................ 16 
Map 5: WSDOT-recognized Park and Rides in Benton and Franklin County ................................................................ 22 
 
  



  

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 3 

 

FIGURES 
Figure 1: Blue Bridge ....................................................................................................................................................... 6 
Figure 2: Three Rivers Transit Center ............................................................................................................................. 7 
Figure 3: Monthly UPT For All Modes ............................................................................................................................. 8 
Figure 4: Total System UPT ............................................................................................................................................. 8 
Figure 5: Monthly Fixed Route UPT ................................................................................................................................ 9 
Figure 6: Monthly UPT - Excluding Fixed Route .............................................................................................................. 9 
Figure 7: Month UPT - Fixed Route ............................................................................................................................... 11 
Figure 8: DAR Monthly UPT (Pre-COVID) ...................................................................................................................... 13 
Figure 9: DAR Monthly UPT (Since COVID) ................................................................................................................... 14 
Figure 10: Vanpool/Rideshare Monthly UPT ................................................................................................................ 14 
Figure 11: CONNECT Monthly UPT ............................................................................................................................... 17 
Figure 12: ARC of Tri-Cities Monthly UPT ..................................................................................................................... 18 
Figure 13: 2025 Fixed Route Pricing Structure ............................................................................................................. 19 
Figure 14: Operations Facility next Administration Office at 1000 Columbia Park Trail, Richland ............................... 20 
Figure 15: Summary of Amenity Improvements........................................................................................................... 21 
Figure 16: Stacy Avenue Transit Center ........................................................................................................................ 25 
Figure 17: 9th & Dale Park and Ride ............................................................................................................................. 25 
Figure 18: Terminal Drive Park & Ride (SR 240 & SR 224 Van giesen) .......................................................................... 26 
Figure 19: Flat Top Park & Ride West Richland ............................................................................................................ 26 
Figure 20: BFT Fleet of Services .................................................................................................................................... 27 
Figure 21: Knight and Goethals .................................................................................................................................... 27 
Figure 22: Park & Ride Across MOA .............................................................................................................................. 28 
Figure 23: Tulip Lane Park & Ride ................................................................................................................................. 28 
Figure 24: Port of Benton Park & Ride .......................................................................................................................... 29 
Figure 25: Ed Frost Transit Center (Huntington)........................................................................................................... 29 
Figure 26: Hapo Center (TRAC) Park & Ride ................................................................................................................. 30 
Figure 27: 22nd Transit Center Park & Ride ................................................................................................................... 30 
Figure 28: SMS Components......................................................................................................................................... 40 
Figure 29: BFT Capital Improvement Program ............................................................................................................. 43 
Figure 30: BFT Capital Improvement 2024-2030 .......................................................................................................... 44 
 

TABLES 
Table 1: Recent Amenity Installations .......................................................................................................................... 21 
Table 2: WSDOT-recognized Park and Rides in Benton and Franklin County ............................................................... 23 
Table 3: Benton-Franklin County P&Rs peak daily occupancy in 2023 (highest day for each month). ........................ 24 
Table 4: 2024-2030 Goals, Objectives, Strategies, & Alignment with State Goals ....................................................... 32 
Table 5: 2024-2030 Goals, Objectives, Strategies, & Alignment with State Goals (continued).................................... 33 
Table 6: WSDOT Recommended Performance Targets ................................................................................................ 35 
Table 7: Fixed Route Fleet Summary ............................................................................................................................ 37 
Table 8: Dial-A-Ride Fleet Summary ............................................................................................................................. 38 
Table 9: The Arc of the Tri-Cities Fleet Summary ......................................................................................................... 38 
Table 10: Non-revenue Vehicles & Equipment ............................................................................................................. 39 
Table 11: Total Capital Improvement Program By Year ............................................................................................... 44 
Table 12: Revenue Vehicles .......................................................................................................................................... 45 
Table 13: Non-Revenue Vehicles .................................................................................................................................. 45 
Table 14: Ops & Maintenance New Building Construction .......................................................................................... 45 
Table 15: Ops & Maintenance ...................................................................................................................................... 46 
Table 16: Planning & Service Facility Upgrades ............................................................................................................ 46 
Table 17: Administration MOA Campus ....................................................................................................................... 46 
Table 18: 2024-2030 Summary of Planned Operating Changes ................................................................................... 47 
Table 19: 2024 to 2030 Projections .............................................................................................................................. 48 
Table 20: Revenue Hours by Mode............................................................................................................................... 49 
 
  



  

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 4 

 

ELEMENT 1: PUBLIC HEARING & DISTRIBUTION 

Plan adoption 
The Ben Franklin Transit (BFT) Board of Directors adopted the 2024-2030 Transit Development Plan (TDP) on August 
8, 2024. 

Public participation process  
Public comment period: July 8 to August 8, 2024.  

Comment submission 
Email: planning@bft.org or by phone 509.735.5100. Mail or in person: Ben Franklin Transit, Service Planning & 
Development, 7109 W. Okanogan Place, Kennewick, 99336.  

Public hearing: BFT held a public hearing on the TDP on August 8, 2024, at 6:00 p.m. in the BFT Maintenance and 
Operations Center (MOA) Board Room, 1000 Columbia Park Trail, City of Richland, WA 99352. A formal public hearing 
was conducted to discuss the highlights of the BFT’s TDP as part of a regular Board of Directors meeting. The purpose 
of the public hearing was to obtain public testimony or comments before significant changes that impact the 
community were enacted. The process met all the Legal/Open-Government Public Meetings Act (RCW 35.58.2795, 
Chapter 42.30 RCW) requirements including print media to solicit public comment for the 30-day period specified in 
the approved Public Participation Plan. 

Notice posted to the website: BFT posted a notice of the hearing on the Transit Development Plan to its website 
at www.bft.org on July 8, 2024. 

Notice published in the local paper: The Tri-City Herald published a notice of the hearing for the Transit 
Development Plan on July 8, 2024. 

Requests for paper or digital copies: Starting July 8, 2024, BFT allowed the public to download a draft copy 
of the digital Transit Development Plan (TDP). The public could also request a paper copy of the draft TDP by emailing 
planning@bft.org or calling 509.735.5100. 

Available to the public for review: BFT allowed the public to view a copy of the draft TDP in the following 
locations: 

 BFT MOA: 1000 Columbia Park Trail, City of Richland, WA 99352  
 Three Rivers Transit Center: 7109 W. Okanogan Place, Kennewick, WA 99336 

 

Plan distribution  
On August 19, BFT distributed the adopted Transportation Development Plan to: 

 WSDOT Public Transportation Division online grants management system compliance module 
 The Transportation Improvement Board via: 

o Vaughn Nelson, Finance Manager at vaughnn@tib.wa.gov. 
o Chris Workman, Deputy Director at mailto:chrisw@tib.wa.gov. 

 All cities, counties, and regional transportation planning organizations included in the Public Transit 
Benefit Area that BFT operates within which includes: 
o City of Benton City  
o Benton County 
o Benton Franklin Council of 

Governments  
o City of Kennewick 

o City of Pasco 
o City of Prosser 
o City of Richland 
o City of West Richland 
o Franklin County  

mailto:planning@bft.org
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=35.58.2795
https://apps.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=42.30&full=true
mailto:vaughnn@tib.wa.gov
mailto:chrisw@tib.wa.gov


Page | 5 

 

 

2024-2030 BFT TDP   

Page | 5 

 

   

 

ELEMENT 2: DESCRIPTION OF SERVICE AREA, OPERATIONS, & FACILITIES 

 HISTORY 

BFT is a public transportation provider serving Benton and Franklin Counties. Formed on May 11, 1981, after a successful 
sales tax vote, BFT has expanded its services over the years, including Dial-A-Ride, Vanpool, and annexation of Benton 
City and Prosser in 1997, and Finley in 2005. Notable service expansions in 2019 and 2021 included the extended service 
span to 10 PM on weekdays and Saturdays and the launch of METRO routes with 15-minute intervals and the 
introduction of Sunday services. 

Financially, BFT relies heavily on sales tax revenue, reflecting broader economic conditions. The agency operates under 
a single enterprise fund using accrual accounting, recording revenues and expenses when they are earned and incurred, 
respectively. Other sources of funding include FTA formula grants and various Federal and Washington State grants. 
Changes in sales tax rates have significantly impacted services, including a notable reduction in 2001 and an approval in 
2002 that stabilized funding. 

 SERVICE AREA 

BFT operates within a 625 square mile area spanning Benton and Franklin counties, encompassing the cities of 
Kennewick, Pasco, Richland, West Richland, Benton City, Prosser as well as specific unincorporated areas. The region 
known as Tri-Cities falls within the Public Transit Benefit Area (PTBA) and expands as cities annex additional territory. 

 

Map 1: BFT Public Transit Benefit Area (PTBA)  

The Board of 
Directors 
consists of 
appointees 
from Richland, 
Kennewick, 
Pasco, West 
Richland, 
Prosser, 
Benton City, 
Benton County, 
and Franklin 
County; plus a 
non-voting 
Union member 
appointed to 
the Board.  

  



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 6 

 

 TRI-CITIES REGION 

The Tri-Cities region of Washington, encompassing Kennewick, Pasco, Richland, and West Richland is anticipated to 
experience substantial population growth in the coming decades. Currently home to over 249,000 residents, the Tri-
Cities area is projected to see its population rise to approximately 342,0001 by 2040. This growth is driven by the region's 
strong economy, diverse job opportunities, affordable cost of living, and high quality of life. The area's robust sectors in 
agriculture, technology, healthcare, and energy contribute to its attractiveness for new residents. In response to this 
anticipated growth, local governments are making strategic investments in infrastructure, housing, transportation, and 
public services to ensure sustainable development and preserve the region's quality of life and appeal. 

Pasco anticipates the most significant 
population growth in the coming years. 
The current population, based on 
official estimates from the Office of 
Financial Management (April 1 Official 
Population Estimates), is around 
81,000 and is expected to increase by 
50% to reach approximately 122,000 
by 2040 (Volume II, Supporting 
Analysis, Comprehensive Plan, 2018 to 
2038). Estimates suggest that 
Kennewick's population, currently 
around 86,000 (April 1 Official 
Population Estimates), could grow 
significantly, potentially reaching 
116,000 (+34%) (City of Kennewick: 
Comprehensive Plan 2021-2041) by 
2040. Richland has a population of 
approximately 63,000 residents (April 1 
Official Population Estimates), but projections indicate this number could rise to around 81,366 (+28%) by 2040 (City of 
Richland Comprehensive Plan - Supporting Analysis (2017)). 

The Tri-Cities region has a predominantly suburban residential landscape with an emphasis on single-family homes. 
Urban planning in the area is trending towards well -planned neighborhoods that offer a blend of housing options to 
accommodate different income levels and family sizes. There is a growing trend towards mixed-use developments 
that combine residential, commercial, and recreational spaces. This approach aims to create vibrant community hubs 
that reduce the need for long commutes, support local businesses, and enhance the overall quality of life. Urban 
planners in the Tri-Cities are increasingly incorporating these developments to create more self-sustaining suburban 
areas. As the Tri-Cities rapidly increases in population and implements mixed-use development, it will create dense, 
accessible, and pedestrian-friendly environments that generate consistent and balanced demand for transit services, 
ultimately fostering a vibrant urban transportation system.  

 
1 Compiled from Kennewick, Pasco, and Richland’s population forecasts in their comprehensive plans. See specific 
citations in the following paragraph. Regionally, the population is expected to reach approximately 356,000 (+37%) by 
2040, based on comprehensive plans of West Richland, Benton City, and Prosser. 

Figure 1: Blue Bridge 



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 7 

 

Benton City, influenced by the expanding urban areas of West Kennewick, Horn Rapids, and West Richland, benefits 
from extending transit services from adjacent cities. In contrast, Prosser requires a multi-layered rural transit service 
model with its larger population and surrounding rural area. BFT serves both Benton City and Prosser with Route 170, 
which currently operates at a 120-minute 
frequency. The route is slated to increase 
to a 60-minute peak service starting in 
August 2024 to provide more frequent 
trips between the cities and the new 
Queensgate Transit Center. Shopping and 
leisure activities near the 
Duportail/Queensgate area in Richland 
were identified as a primary request from 
the community engagement survey 
outlined in BFT’s Prosser Short Range 
Transit Improvement Plan 2023-2028.  
New routing in Prosser will capture central 
business cores connecting customers to 
two grocery stores, the library, parks, the 
civic center, museum, employment 
opportunities, and the Boys and Girls Club.   

BFT continues to provide weekday general demand service to both Benton City and Prosser through Dial-A-Ride, 
which averages 3,400 passenger trips per month. This number has held steady over 2023 following a 10% increase 
from 2022. A 4% decrease occurred between Q1 2023 and Q1 2024 indicating usage remains somewhat consistent.  

 

 OPERATIONS & SERVICE PROVIDED 

BFT offers fixed route, Dial-A-Ride (DAR) complementary ADA paratransit, BFT CONNECT microtransit first/last mile 
service, and Vanpool/Rideshare. In 2021, BFT implemented the following adjustments to service: 

 Two (2) new high-frequency routes 
o METRO Routes 1 and 3 provided 15-minute service from 6 AM through 10 PM between major transit 

centers and along high-demand corridors from Monday to Friday and Saturday from 7 AM to 10 PM.  
 BFT also implemented Sunday 30-minute service on six (6) fixed routes, from 8 AM to 6:30 PM.  
 Dial-A-Ride also operates during these hours. CONNECT starts and finishes 15 minutes before and after fixed 

route service to ensure the service can be used as a connection to the broader fixed route network.  

After two years of evaluating METRO Route 1 and 3 productivity, late-night frequencies were reduced from 15 minutes 
to 30 minutes between 8 PM to 10 PM. BFT will continue to analyze productivity of fixed route service and adjust 
services to provide the most accessible and efficient service as possible. BFT also plans to establish a METRO Route 2 in 
the near future, which will provide 15-minute service during peak hours between Richland and Pasco. 15-minute service 
is currently provided through a combination of Routes 225 and 268, but travel times between Knight St. Transit Center 
and 22nd Ave. Transit Center are still not as expedited as they should be. 

  

Figure 2: Three Rivers Transit Center 

https://www.bft.org/assets/1/6/Prosser_Transit_Improvement_Plan_2023_to_2028.pdf
https://www.bft.org/assets/1/6/Prosser_Transit_Improvement_Plan_2023_to_2028.pdf


 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 8 

 

Queensgate Transit Center, tentatively slated for August 2024 implementation, will provide improved frequencies to 
Benton City and Prosser. Throughout 2024, BFT will work on developing a long-range plan that aligns with local 
development initiatives across Benton and Franklin counties, ensuring consistency with growth projections and planning 
documents. The following graphs depict the monthly total of unlinked passenger trips (UPT) by mode, with each section 
providing detailed breakdowns. In 2023, total system UPT exceeded 2019 pre-pandemic ridership by 2%, amounting to 
an additional 51,687 passenger trips. As UPT continues to climb, the first six months of 2024 experienced an 13% 
increase over Q1 & Q2 2019, adding 200,218 more passenger trips. This surge indicates that growth is now driven by 
factors beyond post-pandemic recovery, reflecting an increase in discretionary ridership. 

Figure 3: Monthly UPT For All Modes 

 

Figure 4: Total System UPT 

 

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

Ja
n-

19

M
ar

-1
9

M
ay

-1
9

Ju
l-1

9

Se
p-

19

N
ov

-1
9

Ja
n-

20

M
ar

-2
0

M
ay

-2
0

Ju
l-2

0

Se
p-

20

N
ov

-2
0

Ja
n-

21

M
ar

-2
1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
l-2

1

Se
p-

21

N
ov

-2
1

Ja
n-

22

M
ar

-2
2

M
ay

-2
2

Ju
l-2

2

Se
p-

22

N
ov

-2
2

Ja
n-

23

M
ar

-2
3

M
ay

-2
3

Ju
l-2

3

Se
p-

23

N
ov

-2
3

Ja
n-

24

M
ar

-2
4

M
ay

-2
4

Monthly UPT - All Modes (2019-June 2024)

Motorbus (MB/DO) Vanpool (VP/DO) DIAL-A-RIDE (DR/DO)

ARC OF TRI-CITIES (DR/PT) VIA (DT/PT)

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

350,000

Ja
n-

19

M
ar

-1
9

M
ay

-1
9

Ju
l-1

9

Se
p-

19

N
ov

-1
9

Ja
n-

20

M
ar

-2
0

M
ay

-2
0

Ju
l-2

0

Se
p-

20

N
ov

-2
0

Ja
n-

21

M
ar

-2
1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
l-2

1

Se
p-

21

N
ov

-2
1

Ja
n-

22

M
ar

-2
2

M
ay

-2
2

Ju
l-2

2

Se
p-

22

N
ov

-2
2

Ja
n-

23

M
ar

-2
3

M
ay

-2
3

Ju
l-2

3

Se
p-

23

N
ov

-2
3

Ja
n-

24

M
ar

-2
4

M
ay

-2
4

Total System UPT (2019-June 2024)
Ju

ne
-2

4 
Ju

ne
-2

4 



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 9 

 

 

Figure 5: Monthly Fixed Route UPT 

 

 

Figure 6: Monthly UPT - Excluding Fixed Route 

 

  

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000
Ja

n-
19

M
ar

-1
9

M
ay

-1
9

Ju
l-1

9

Se
p-

19

N
ov

-1
9

Ja
n-

20

M
ar

-2
0

M
ay

-2
0

Ju
l-2

0

Se
p-

20

N
ov

-2
0

Ja
n-

21

M
ar

-2
1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
l-2

1

Se
p-

21

N
ov

-2
1

Ja
n-

22

M
ar

-2
2

M
ay

-2
2

Ju
l-2

2

Se
p-

22

N
ov

-2
2

Ja
n-

23

M
ar

-2
3

M
ay

-2
3

Ju
l-2

3

Se
p-

23

N
ov

-2
3

Ja
n-

24

M
ar

-2
4

M
ay

-2
4

Monthly UPT - Fixed Route (2019-June 2024)

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

Ja
n-

19

M
ar

-1
9

M
ay

-1
9

Ju
l-1

9

Se
p-

19

N
ov

-1
9

Ja
n-

20

M
ar

-2
0

M
ay

-2
0

Ju
l-2

0

Se
p-

20

N
ov

-2
0

Ja
n-

21

M
ar

-2
1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
l-2

1

Se
p-

21

N
ov

-2
1

Ja
n-

22

M
ar

-2
2

M
ay

-2
2

Ju
l-2

2

Se
p-

22

N
ov

-2
2

Ja
n-

23

M
ar

-2
3

M
ay

-2
3

Ju
l-2

3

Se
p-

23

N
ov

-2
3

Ja
n-

24

M
ar

-2
4

M
ay

-2
4

Monthly UPT - All Modes Excluding Fixed Route (2019-June 2024)

Vanpool (VP/DO) DIAL-A-RIDE (DR/DO) ARC OF TRI-CITIES (DR/PT) VIA (DT/PT)

Ju
ne

-2
4 

Ju
ne

-2
4 



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 10 

 

ENHANCING TRANSIT SERVICES  

TRAINING 
Over the next five years, BFT’s training department will undergo a significant transformation to enhance transit 
services.  

 Beginning in 2024, the focus will be on developing comprehensive driver trainer and ride/drive programs to 
equip all drivers with essential skills for safe and efficient transit operations.  

 In 2025, there will be an intensified emphasis on defensive driving techniques to bolster safety measures 
across the transit system.  

 Starting in 2026, the training efforts will expand to encompass organization-wide training and talent 
development initiatives aimed at refining staff skills.  

Through continuous training, BFT aims to elevate communication, safety, and customer service standards, ensuring 
ongoing excellence and reliability in service delivery to the communities served. 

LANGUAGE ASSISTANCE 
Over the past few years, BFT has made significant strides in enhancing language assistance to better serve the diverse 
community. Key improvements include: 

 Bilingual Staff Hiring: BFT has increased the number of front-facing bilingual staff and ensured that outreach 
personnel and media content are evaluated by native Spanish-speaking staff. This provides more accessible 
and effective communication for riders with Limited English Proficiency. 

 Multilingual Materials: Transit information, including schedules, maps, service updates, and public meeting 
notices are readily available in multiple languages to ensure all riders have access to vital information. 

 Community Outreach: Staff are building connections and collaborating with other community agencies and 
school districts to conduct targeted outreach to customers with Limited English Proficiency. 

o Translation services are also available for any public meetings or outreach sessions conducted. 
 Customer Service Enhancements: BFT strives to provide assistance in various languages and offers access to 

language line services for staff who are not fluent in the requested language, ensuring customers can receive 
help in their preferred language.  

o Staff are trained to assist customers with language disabilities, including those who use sign language 
or require alternative communication methods. 

 Improving ADA Announcements: Efforts have been made to improve sound quality, update language, and 
include Spanish announcements in ADA-compliant communications. 
 

FUTURE PLANS: 

BFT is dedicated to enhancing services for all customers, including those with Limited English Proficiency. To ensure an 
inclusive and accessible transit system that positively impacts the community's future BFT is planning to:  

 Expand Bilingual Staff: Continue to recruit and train more bilingual staff to expand community outreach and 
enhance communication. Ensure that essential documents are accessible in the primary language and actively 
prepare to accommodate the next two most spoken languages. Utilize resources like language line services, 
partnerships with jurisdictions, and community organizations, engage in community outreach sessions, and 
collaborate with Human Resources to ensure staff reflect the linguistic diversity of the community. 

  



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 11 

 

 Enhance Technological Innovations: Explore the use of translation apps and real-time language assistance 
tools to provide immediate support to drivers and riders in multiple languages. 

 Strengthen Community Partnerships: Strengthen partnerships with local organizations to better understand 
and address the language needs of riders. 

  Educational Initiatives: Conceptualize and develop educational campaigns about available transit services.  
o Develop a digital campaign featuring a curated bilingual video library. Customers can view these 

videos at their convenience or during transit learning sessions to review available services and 
effective ways to access them. 

 Revitalize Train the Trainer Program 
o Internal Campaign: Staff are dedicated to enhancing the existing "Train the Trainer" model to 

effectively train designated staff and others. This effort includes developing an updated 
comprehensive training program focused on enhancing language assistance skills to better support 
non-English-speaking riders, fostering a more inclusive and supportive environment. 

o External Campaign: The external campaign will be conceptualized by collaborating with schools to 
establish an apprenticeship program. Through this initiative, students will advocate for transit and 
educate their peers about riding, thereby developing their leadership skills and fostering community 
ownership. Workshops will be conducted by internal staff to train designated external individuals who 
can then lead these educational efforts across schools effectively. 

 Gain Feedback and Improvement: Implement new feedback mechanisms, including a secret rider program, to 
gather input from all riders especially non-English-speaking riders. This ensures continuous service 
improvement based on their needs and experiences. Additionally, staff will strengthen the campaign to raise 
awareness about submitting Title VI concerns as well as promoting equity across all transit services provided. 

 FIXED ROUTE 

Fixed Route exceeded pre-pandemic levels by 17% in 2023, equating to an additional 351,143 passengers compared to 
2019 totals. Ridership continues to grow with the first six month of 2024 seeing an increase of 14% over the first half 
of  2023, equating to an additional 168,866 passengers. 

 

Figure 7: Month UPT - Fixed Route 

 

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

Ja
n-

19

M
ar

-1
9

M
ay

-1
9

Ju
l-1

9

Se
p-

19

N
ov

-1
9

Ja
n-

20

M
ar

-2
0

M
ay

-2
0

Ju
l-2

0

Se
p-

20

N
ov

-2
0

Ja
n-

21

M
ar

-2
1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
l-2

1

Se
p-

21

N
ov

-2
1

Ja
n-

22

M
ar

-2
2

M
ay

-2
2

Ju
l-2

2

Se
p-

22

N
ov

-2
2

Ja
n-

23

M
ar

-2
3

M
ay

-2
3

Ju
l-2

3

Se
p-

23

N
ov

-2
3

Ja
n-

24

M
ar

-2
4

M
ay

-2
4

Monthly UPT - Fixed Route (2019-June 2024)

Ju
ne

-2
4 



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 12 

 

Map 2: BFT Fixed 
Route System 
Weekdays through 
Saturdays  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Map 3: BFT Fixed Route 
System On Sundays 

 

Sunday service is from 8 
PM to 6 PM. Seven 
routes operate on 
Sunday (Map 3) 

BFT’s system 
map (Map 2) 
shows the fixed 
route network 
comprised of 
18 routes. 
Service hours 
are Monday 
through Friday 
from 6 AM to 
10 PM and 
Saturday from 
7 AM to 10 
PM. 



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 13 

 

 DIAL-A-RIDE 

Dial-A-Ride (DAR) is BFT’s ADA complementary paratransit service that operates during the same service hours as fixed 
route. It is available to any qualified rider within the PTBA. In Prosser and Benton City, DAR offers general demand rides 
to the public Monday through Friday and trips must be booked 24 hours in advance.  

Total DAR ridership in 2023 was 234,982, which is 78% of its pre-pandemic levels. The First half of 2024 shows a 2%   
(-1,989) decrease in rides compared to the year prior. While these numbers may indicate a plateau, increased 
population growth with additional senior housing complexes under construction in the area will most likely contribute 
to an upward trend in ridership over the coming years. BFCOG’s 2022 Human Service Transportation Plan (HSTP) 
anticipates the region’s 65 and over population will grow from 13% to 89% in the next 20 years. On average, general 
demand rides account for 17% of total DAR ridership, which has remained consistent since 2019.  

Figure 8: DAR Monthly UPT (Pre-COVID) 

 

 

BFT will continue to provide reliable and accessible paratransit service throughout Benton and Franklin County within 
the PTBA. As BFT looks ahead to 2025, the primary focus remains on maintaining the high standards of service riders 
depend on. While there are no significant changes planned for the upcoming year, BFT recognizes the importance of 
addressing staffing challenges to uphold the quality of operations. 

One of the key objectives for 2025 is to improve Dial-A-Ride (DAR) staffing levels. BFT understands that the dedication 
and expertise of staff directly impact the experience of riders. To achieve this goal, BFT will be implementing strategic 
measures to attract and retain qualified personnel, ensuring that there are a sufficient number of trained professionals 
to meet the demands of the paratransit service. 

In instances where staffing shortages may temporarily affect the agency’s ability to deliver seamless service, staff are 
exploring options to mitigate any disruptions. The Operations team is empowered to assess the situation; and, if 
necessary, collaborate with a third-party provider for assistance. This approach will be utilized only when deemed 
essential to maintain service reliability and meet the needs of riders. 

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

Ja
n-

19

M
ar

-1
9

M
ay

-1
9

Ju
l-1

9

Se
p-

19

N
ov

-1
9

Ja
n-

20

M
ar

-2
0

M
ay

-2
0

Ju
l-2

0

Se
p-

20

N
ov

-2
0

Ja
n-

21

M
ar

-2
1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
l-2

1

Se
p-

21

N
ov

-2
1

Ja
n-

22

M
ar

-2
2

M
ay

-2
2

Ju
l-2

2

Se
p-

22

N
ov

-2
2

Ja
n-

23

M
ar

-2
3

M
ay

-2
3

Ju
l-2

3

Se
p-

23

N
ov

-2
3

Ja
n-

24

M
ar

-2
4

M
ay

-2
4

Monthly UPT - Dial-A-Ride (2019-June 2024)

Ju
ne

-2
4 



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 14 

 

Figure 9: DAR Monthly UPT (Since COVID) 

 

 VANPOOL/RIDESHARE 

Vanpool/Rideshare offers 6, 12, and 15 passenger vans and allows commuters the flexibility to initiate new minivan 
groups for commuters to start a new minivan group with just 3 people. Vanpool is the only service that operates outside 
of the PTBA but rides must originate or conclude within the PTBA. Services include routes to Pendleton, Boardman, 
Walla Walla, Connell, Patterson, and the Hanford Site. 

In 2024, BFT's Vanpool service underwent significant enhancements aimed at ensuring the continued comfort, safety, 
and efficiency of passengers' commutes. New vehicles were introduced to replace aging ones and to replenish the fleet 
after the sale of some vehicles during the challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic. These updates not only 
modernized the fleet but also reaffirmed BFT’s commitment to providing reliable transportation solutions. Total 
Vanpool ridership in 2023 was 306,138, or 47% of pre-pandemic ridership. The first half of 2024 saw a 4% (+5,749) 
increase in ridership compared to the same period in 2023.  

Figure 10: Vanpool/Rideshare Monthly UPT  

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

Ja
n-

19
M

ar
-1

9
M

ay
-1

9
Ju

l-1
9

Se
p-

19
N

ov
-1

9
Ja

n-
20

M
ar

-2
0

M
ay

-2
0

Ju
l-2

0
Se

p-
20

N
ov

-2
0

Ja
n-

21
M

ar
-2

1
M

ay
-2

1
Ju

l-2
1

Se
p-

21
N

ov
-2

1
Ja

n-
22

M
ar

-2
2

M
ay

-2
2

Ju
l-2

2
Se

p-
22

N
ov

-2
2

Ja
n-

23
M

ar
-2

3
M

ay
-2

3
Ju

l-2
3

Se
p-

23
N

ov
-2

3
Ja

n-
24

M
ar

-2
4

M
ay

-2
4

Monthly UPT - Vanpool (2019-June 2024)

Ju
ne

-2
4 



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 15 

 

In anticipation of 2025, BFT is dedicated to further expanding the reach and impact of the Vanpool program. The primary 
focus will be on fostering the growth of Vanpool groups, nurturing a sense of community among commuters while 
alleviating traffic congestion and reducing environmental impact. By encouraging more individuals to join Vanpool 
groups, BFT aims to enhance transportation options and promote sustainable commuting practices. 

In addition to growing Vanpool groups and refining fare structures, BFT will also embark on an initiative to create 
educational videos. These videos will serve as 
valuable resources, providing guidance and 
simplifying the process for new Vanpool groups 
and participants. By offering comprehensive 
educational materials, staff aims to empower 
passengers with the knowledge and tools they 
need to make informed decisions and maximize 
the benefits of Vanpooling. 

 

 

 

  

Updating Services
Evaluating the scope 
and coverage based 
on demand, 
population density, 
and existing 
infrastructure as 
well as explore 
smaller 3 person 
groups

Telematics 
Integration

Implementing 
technology for real-
time tracking, driver 
monitoring, 
predictive 
maintenance, and 
data analytics to 
enhance efficiency 
and reliability.

Vehicle Upgrades
Modernize the fleet 
by upgrading to 
newer, more fuel-
efficient vehicles 
with enhanced 
amenities and 
accessibility 
features, 
considering vehicle 
capacity, comfort, 
environmental 
impact, and lifecycle 
costs.

Fare Structure
Review and assess 
the current fare 
structure to better 
meet riders' needs 
while maintaining 
financial 
sustainability, 
exploring options 
like distance-based 
and flat rate fares.

Reduced Fare 
Programs

Develop programs to 
offer reduced fares 
for lower-income 
individuals and 
other vulnerable 
populations, 
considering 
eligibility criteria 
and application 
processes to ensure 
equitable access to 
transportation 
services.

Vanpool/Rideshare will be focusing on several key initiatives that will include:  

 



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 16 

 

 CONNECT 

CONNECT is BFT’s contracted microtransit that offers first/last mile service beginning 15 minutes before and after 
regularly scheduled service. Map 4 displays how the service is divided into six zones that are designed to feed transit 
centers and bus stops.  

 

Map 4: BFT CONNECT Service Zones 

 

 

As a pivotal component of BFT’s transportation system, the BFT CONNECT service is designed to offer tailored solutions 
for riders by filling gaps in the existing transit network and providing flexible and on-demand transportation. The BFT 
CONNECT service is utilized to complement existing transit services and ensure that the community has reliable 
transportation options, especially in areas where fixed routes may not be available. The utilization of CONNECT is often 
based on various factors, including the passenger's starting point or destination, the time of travel, and the availability 
of fixed routes. 

BFT's CONNECT service made significant strides in 2024 to enhance accessibility and convenience for riders. These 
improvements include the introduction of a new BFT CONNECT app designed to streamline the booking process and 
provide users with real-time information about their ride. Additionally, the integration of fare types was added to 
simplify the interface and accommodate various passes, ensuring a seamless experience for riders. In response to 



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 17 

 

feedback and evolving community needs, additional points of interest were incorporated, allowing for greater coverage 
and flexibility in transportation options where transit is not normally available within the PTBA. Looking ahead to 2025, 
BFT is committed to building upon these achievements and further improving the CONNECT service while ensuring that 
the fixed route is a primary, and most efficient source of transportation. In the coming year, BFT will explore 
opportunities for area growth to meet the increasing demand from riders.  

Ridership for CONNECT saw drastic increases from inception.  Its first full year of service in 2021 compared to 2023 saw 
a 314% (+95,410) increase in ridership.  Changes were made in May 2023 to encourage better usage of Fixed Route.  In 
the Spring of 2024, an upgrade to the app and fraud prevention measures saw adjustments in ridership as BFT staff 
worked to ensure passengers were using the system as designed.  The first half of 2024 saw an 18% (-14,006) decrease 
in ridership as a result. 

Under the guidance of the BFT Board of Directors, potential enhancements will be carefully considered to ensure that 
CONNECT continues to serve riders who don’t have access to fixed routes or when the service is unavailable. To gain 
valuable insights into customer satisfaction and preferences, a biannual customer survey will be rolled out via the BFT 
CONNECT app, allowing BFT to gather feedback and make data-driven decisions for service improvements. Additionally, 
staff will continuously assess the need to add new points of interest based on community growth and demand. 

Between now and 2030, efforts will also be made to enhance the user experience by improving app functionality across 
different platforms, ensuring consistency and reliability for both Android and iOS users. Furthermore, BFT remains 
committed to closely monitoring driver partners, ensuring the contracted service provides drivers with comprehensive 
training and the necessary tools to deliver exceptional service consistently. BFT will actively promote CONNECT services 
to the Limited English Proficiency community, ensuring equitable access and awareness across all communities. Service 
hours, zones or coverage may be modified as deemed necessary by staff or due to budget impacts to meet the evolving 
transportation needs of the community. By providing convenient, reliable, and accessible mobility solutions, BFT aims 
to meet the community's expectations and enhance overall transportation experiences.  

 

  

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

16,000

18,000

20,000

Montly UPT - CONNECT (April 2020-June 2024)

Figure 11: CONNECT Monthly UPT 

 



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 18 

 

 THE ARC OF TRI-CITIES 

The Arc of Tri-Cities empowers over 2,000 individuals with developmental disabilities and their families in Benton and 
Franklin Counties by assisting them in making informed choices and accessing essential services. Their mission is to 
promote the rights of people with intellectual and developmental disabilities, ensuring their full inclusion and 
participation in all aspects of the community throughout their lives. The Arc of Tri-Cities is contracted with BFT to 
provide ADA paratransit. BFT provides vital transit assistance through the Enhanced Mobility of Seniors & Individuals 
with Disabilities Section 5310 FTA program, offering a majority of the vans used by The Arc of Tri-Cities. Transportation 
services are offered to eligible persons with intellectual and developmental disabilities to The Arc, Goodwill Industries, 
Adult Day Care, and Columbia Industries. This collaboration helps create a more inclusive and supportive environment, 
enabling individuals to engage in society to their fullest potential. 

In 2019, prior to the pandemic, The Arc transported approximately 21% of all ADA paratransit trips. 2023 and Q1 2024 
are holding at approximately 17%. Large ridership peaks, presented in the graph below, represent The Arc’s summer 
program Partners and Pals.  

Ridership for The Arc has not reached pre-pandemic levels but continues to trend upward. 2023 reached 64% of pre-
pandemic levels while Q1 2024 reached 83%. Total ridership for 2023 was 49,477. The first half of 2024 saw a 28% 
(+6,264) increase compared to the year prior. 

 

Figure 12: ARC of Tri-Cities Monthly UPT 

 

  

  

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

Ja
n-

19

M
ar

-1
9

M
ay

-1
9

Ju
l-1

9

Se
p-

19

N
ov

-1
9

Ja
n-

20

M
ar

-2
0

M
ay

-2
0

Ju
l-2

0

Se
p-

20

N
ov

-2
0

Ja
n-

21

M
ar

-2
1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
l-2

1

Se
p-

21

N
ov

-2
1

Ja
n-

22

M
ar

-2
2

M
ay

-2
2

Ju
l-2

2

Se
p-

22

N
ov

-2
2

Ja
n-

23

M
ar

-2
3

M
ay

-2
3

Ju
l-2

3

Se
p-

23

N
ov

-2
3

Ja
n-

24

M
ar

-2
4

M
ay

-2
4

Montly UPT - Arc of the Tri-Cities (2019-June 2024)

Ju
ne

-2
4 

https://arcoftricities.com/about
https://www.transit.dot.gov/funding/grants/enhanced-mobility-seniors-individuals-disabilities-section-5310
https://www.transit.dot.gov/funding/grants/enhanced-mobility-seniors-individuals-disabilities-section-5310


 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 19 

 

FARES 

BFT’s fare structure has 
not been revamped in 
over 20 years, but the 
recommendations 
detailed in the 
Comprehensive Fare 
Study were 
considered and 
approved at the 
December 2023 
Board. Given the 
ambiguity of the 
status of the Climate 
Commitment Act, and 
it’s potential impacts 
on Move Ahead 
Washington funding, 
BFT’s Board of 
Directors has asked 
that staff delay 
implementation of 
the updated fare 
structure and revisit 
the topic in early 
2025. 

(Ben Franklin Transit, 
2024) 
 

BFT is currently 
exploring new fare 
structure options for 
Vanpool.  

 

  

Figure 13: 2025 Fixed Route Pricing Structure 

https://www.bft.org/fares/farestudy/
https://www.bft.org/fares/farestudy/


 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 20 

 

 FACILITIES 

The main campus of BFT hosts administrative offices, maintenance, and operations facilities at 1000 Columbia Park Trail, 
Richland, Washington. The newly reconstructed operations building, rebuilt on top of the original site, will be completed 
in the summer of 2024. The new 
Operations Building replaced a 35-
year-old building that was well past 
its useful life. Customer Service is 
located at Three Rivers Transit 
Center, 7109 W. Okanogan Pl, 
Kennewick, Washington. 

A recent review of transit center 
naming conventions determined 
that “Transit Centers” would refer to 
locations that may include customer 
service hubs, serve multiple routes, 
and include enhanced passenger 
facilities. “Transfer Points” would 
refer to in-line bus parking, minimal 
route connections, parking 
components, and recovery time 
where feasible.  

 

 

 

 

The following locations meet this definition: 

Transit Centers 

 Three Rivers Transit Center, 7109 W Okanogan Pl., Kennewick 
 22nd Ave Transit Center, N 22nd Ave at W Park St., Pasco 
 Knight Street Transit Center, Knight St at Goethals Dr., Richland 
 Queensgate Transit Center (Columbia Park Trl. and Queensgate Dr) Richland 

o The newest location is currently under construction with an anticipated opening in August 2024. 

Transfer Points 

 Dayton Street Transfer Point, S Dayton St at 1st Ave, Kennewick * 
 Stacey Avenue Transfer Point, Stacy Ave at 7th St, Prosser * 
 West Richland Transfer Point, W Van Giesen St at Bombing Range Rd, West Richland *  

Future transit centers and transfer points in West Pasco, Downtown Pasco, Southridge, Prosser, and Benton City will be 
designated as a Transit Center or Transfer Point during the design phases. *Transfer point facilities are used in 
collaboration with jurisdictional partners but are not owned by BFT.   

Figure 14: Operations Facility next Administration Office at 1000 Columbia Park Trail, Richland 



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 21 

 

AMENITIES AND INSTALLATION 

In 2017, staff conducted a comprehensive bus stop inventory to prepare for a new amenity program. Initially, in 2018, 
staff updated locations with conditions that were believed to be ADA compliant. During 2019 and 2020, Bureau Veritas 
carried out a full ADA compliance assessment of the bus stops across the BFT PTBA. This assessment revealed that only 
13% of approximately 1,000 bus stops were ADA compliant. The project that initially focused on adding new amenities 
to bus stops has evolved to prioritize improving ADA accessibility, installing amenities where needed, and collaborating 
with partners at strategic locations. 

 

 

 

 

Over the last five years, changes in routes and the addition and removal of 
bus stops in BFT’s PTBA have affected the total number of stops, which may 
slightly alter the percentage of ADA-compliant stops since the initial 
assessment. Bus stops are currently being reassessed to determine the 
accurate number of compliant locations, as previous estimates were 
based on Bureau Veritas's sampling and may not have been entirely 
precise. Recent amenity improvements have included: (Figure 15) 

With careful planning and anticipation of growth, staff have 
achieved steady progress, typically increasing ADA compliance 
by approximately 3% each year through various construction 
and installation contracts. By 2023, BFT’s bus stop 
inventory was estimated to have reached 22% 
compliance. This commitment, supported by local 
funding, is detailed in Table 1. Currently, BFT is 
verifying this percentage by assessing each stop 
individually, rather than relying on a sample set. By 
2024, compliance is estimated to have risen to 
nearly 25%. 

 

Table 1: Recent Amenity Installations 
 2022/2023 Installations 2023/2024 Installations 
Shelter 10 18 
Bench 13 12 
Lean Rail Only 2 0 
Garbage Can Only 4 1 
2-Seater Bench 1 0 
TOTAL 30 31 

 

In 2023, BFT was awarded a grant to enhance stops along our frequent service corridors (METRO Routes). Staff are now 
working with the agency’s A&E firm to begin the project's initial planning phase. Looking ahead to 2030, BFT aims to 
continue annual improvements to bus stops, even if additional partnership agreements are required.  

Enhancing ADA accessibility at bus 
stops.

Installing new amenities such as 
shelters, benches, and lighting where 

necessary.

Collaborating with partners to 
identify and upgrade strategic 

locations.

Continuously reassessing and 
updating our bus stop inventory to 
ensure accuracy and compliance.

Figure 15: Summary of Amenity Improvements 



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 22 

 

EXPANSION 

Two new transit centers are anticipated in late 2025 and early 2026 to enhance connectivity in Pasco’s rapidly growing 
eastern and western areas. To meet the demand of this growth, land was purchased at 1115 W Clark St. This transit 
center will tentatively include a customer service component with bilingual staff to make it more accessible to everyone. 
Additionally, BFT seeks to use this initiative as an educational tool to raise awareness of available services, especially 
since approximately a quarter of ridership has Limited English Proficiency. Staff plan to increase community outreach 
and establish a stronger presence downtown and in the expanding East Pasco areas. The design phase for Downtown 
Pasco Transit Center is expected to be completed in Summer 2024 and construction is currently delayed due to budget 
concerns. During the remainder of 2024, efforts will be spent on reevaluating the Downtown Pasco Project and looking 
into other alternatives if budget concerns make the current planned site infeasible. There are ongoing efforts to assess 
if Downtown Pasco funds can be reallocated to help fund a revitalization of the existing 22nd Ave Transit Center. Land 
purchase for the West Pasco Transit Center is also on hold, but BFT plans to acquire land by the end of 2024. Future 
transfer points will include Southridge, Benton City, and Prosser. The overall project timeline is expected to stabilize as 
planned buildings and transit centers become operational by the end of the 2024-2030 TDP period, despite the 
downturn in construction. 

It is important to acknowledge that the progress of these projects depends on various factors, including funding 
considerations and community impacts related to Initiative 2117. As BFT navigates these uncertainties, BFT will focus 
throughout 2024 and 2025 on creating a long-range plan that aligns with local development initiatives to ensure 
consistency. 

 PTBA PARK & RIDE COUNTS 

BFT operates services to eleven park-and-ride (P&R) lots (Table 3). BFT has counted the correlation of Rideshare vans 
to single occupancy vehicles at its managed P&R lots for several decades. The data is used as a proxy of the region’s 
propensity for commuters to share rides to work. Our bottom line is to ensure that BFT Rideshare groups have secure 
parking spaces to store their personal vehicles during their workday. 

Map 5: WSDOT-recognized Park and Rides in Benton and Franklin County 

 

https://wsdot.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=31a3d9a42681442096fbbd38590f3af7 

https://wsdot.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=31a3d9a42681442096fbbd38590f3af7


 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 23 

 

The Benton-Franklin Council of Government (BFCOG) counts all WSDOT-recognized P&Rs in their jurisdiction 
quarterly. Table 2 displays highlighted BFCOG P&R lots not managed by BFT.  

Table 2: WSDOT-recognized Park and Rides in Benton and Franklin County 

 WSDOT & BFT Park & Rides City Spaces Monthly 
Average. Occupied Property 

Ownership 

1 Stacy Ave Transfer Point Prosser 20 2 9.6% Leased 

2 Rest Area at Exit 80 Prosser WSDOT REST AREA WSDOT 

3 Kiona I/C -  Red Mountain P&R  Benton City 49 27 55.0% WSDOT 

4 Horne Dr/Hanford Rte. 10 (SR 240) Benton City 18 1 6.0% WSDOT 

5 Benton City P&R (9th & Dale) Benton City  37 6 15.6% Leased 

6 SR 240 & Van Giesen (SR 224) Richland  89 5 5.3% WSDOT 

7 West Richland Transfer Point  (Flattop) West Richland 154 8 5.1% Leased 

8 Port of Benton (Stevens Dr. & Spengler) Richland 125 35 27.5% Leased 

9 Knight Street Transit Center  Richland 33 7 22.0% BFT 
Owned 

10 Richland "Y" (Columbia Park Trl.)  Richland  249 41 16.5% Leased 

11 Columbia Park Trail & Tulip Ln. Richland 139 9 6.5% Leased 

12 Ed Frost Transit Center (Huntington) Kennewick 14 6 40.0% BFT 
Owned 

13 Union & 27th Kennewick 50 22 44.0% WSDOT 

14 W Falls Ave (US 395 west of Yelm St.) Kennewick 39 20 51.0% WSDOT 

15 HAPO Center  
(Convention Pl. & Homerun Rd.) Pasco 180 30 16.5% Leased 

16 22nd Ave Transit Center Pasco 50 3 5.8% BFT 
Owned 

 

It should be noted that BFT only manages about a third of the 350 parking spaces at Port of Benton-Stevens Dr & 
Spengler P&R lot (#8) e.g. only those under the lease agreement. The Ed Frost Transit Center P&R (#12) was downsized 
when the yard was fenced as a secure storage area in 2019. The smallest P&R lots (Knight Street TC, 22nd Ave. TC, Stacy 
Ave. TC, and Benton City) are counted by coach operators of Route 225, METRO 1, METRO 3, and Route 170 - on either 
the 8:15 AM or 8:30 AM morning trip. These coach operators make a quick assessment of the number of Rideshare vans 
in the lot, as well as any other vehicle occupying a parking stall and relay the counts to fixed-route dispatch over the 
bus radio.  

Transportation supervisors are responsible for collecting daily vehicle counts at the other seven P&R lots managed by 
BFT. Decisions are made by the three supervisors on duty regarding who will conduct which of the counts according to 
their respective 6:00 AM - 8:00 AM availability. It is estimated that it would take approximately 1.5 hours for a single 
supervisor (happens frequently on weekends) to loop around the Tri-cities to complete these counts. A tally is recorded 
separately for Rideshare vehicles and all other vehicles. Occasionally BFT staff store vehicles at some locations, which 
should be marked with a sign to remove them from the count. Supervisors often make notes on the data collection 
forms of other anomalies such as VIA/BFT Connect Vans, and non-commuter users like vehicles camping overnight, etc.  



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 24 

 

BFT is aware that not everyone parking in these P&Rs is all share-ride commuters, but the energy spent conducting 
these daily counts reenforces BFTs commitment to building trust in the Vanpool/Rideshare Program and voluntary 
ridesharing, which adds to the reduction of vehicular miles of travel for the region.  

Table 3: Benton-Franklin County P&Rs peak daily occupancy in 2023 (highest day for each month). 

 

Prosser Benton 
City 

Richland Kennewick Pasco 

 

 

St
ac

y 
Av

e 
TC

 

9t
h&

Da
le

 

SR
24

0&
SR

22
4 

Va
n 

G
ie

se
n 

SR
 2

24
 

Fl
at

to
p 

Pa
rk

 

Kn
ig

ht
  

&
 G

oe
th

al
s 

Co
l. 

Pk
. T

rl.
 

W
SD

O
T 

Co
l. 

Pk
. T

rl.
  

Tu
lip

 L
an

e 

DO
E 

Lo
t o

n 
Sp

an
gl

er
  

Hu
nt

in
gt

on
 T

C 

Ha
po

 C
en

te
r  

TR
AC

  

22
nd

 A
ve

 T
C  

2023 
Max 

Capacity 

28 
Spaces 

37 
Space 

89 
Spaces 

154 
Spaces 

33 
Spaces 

249 
Spaces 

139 
Spaces 

350 
Space

s 
20 Spaces 

150 
Space

s 

50 
Spaces 

Jan 
50% 32% 11% 8% 48% 24% 19% 14% 50% 37% 28% 

14 12 10 12 16 59 27 50 10 55 14 

Feb 
54% 35% 9% 12% 48% 39% 14% 20% 40% 39% 8% 

15 13 8 18 16 98 20 70 8 58 4 

Mar 
39% 46% 10% 10% 52% 28% 43% 19% 30% 50% 28% 

11 17 9 16 17 69 60 66 6 75 14 

Apr 
18% 46% 13% 12% 48% 28% 12% 18% 60% 42% 26% 

5 17 12 18 16 69 16 64 12 63 13 

May 
32% 41% 15% 11% 52% 24% 11% 22% 75% 43% 6% 

9 15 13 17 17 61 15 77 15 65 3 

Jun 
39% 54% 10% 12% 52% 33% 12% 20% 85% 40% 4% 

11 20 9 18 17 83 16 70 17 60 2 

Jul 
82% 57% 10% 13% 27% 36% 14% 22% 75% 39% 8% 

23 21 9 20 9 89 20 78 15 58 4 

Aug 
50% 35% 28% 13% 48% 35% 14% 26% 75% 41% 12% 

14 13 25 20 16 86 20 91 15 62 6 

Sep 
50% 35% 15% 12% 42% 38% 13% 28% 75% 37% 14% 

14 13 13 19 14 94 18 97 15 56 7 

Oct 
36% 38% 15% 25% 48% 44% 17% 29% 85% 43% 16% 

10 14 13 38 16 110 23 102 17 65 8 

Nov 
50% 35% 18% 10% 52% 34% 19% 23% 60% 42% 26% 

14 13 16 16 17 85 26 81 12 63 13 

Dec 
50% 43% 12% 10% 45% 39% 17% 22% 60% 39% 20% 

14 16 11 15 15 98 23 76 12 58 10 

Note: the same P&Rs peak period occupancy was 22% higher in 2018. 



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 25 

 

P&R LOTS (EXCLUDING TRANSIT CENTERS) 

Figure 16: Stacy Avenue Transit Center 

 

Figure 17: 9th & Dale Park and Ride 

 



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 26 

 

Figure 18: Terminal Drive Park & Ride (SR 240 & SR 224 Van giesen) 

 

 

 

Figure 19: Flat Top Park & Ride West Richland 

 

  



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 27 

 

Figure 20: BFT Fleet of Services 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 21: Knight and Goethals 

 



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 28 

 

Figure 22: Park & Ride Across MOA 

 
* VIA now has designated spots for their exclusive use. BFT utilized this lot for employee parking during the construction 
of the BFT Operations building showing a spike in February-April of 2024. 

 

 

Figure 23: Tulip Lane Park & Ride  

* There is evidence of 
parking for customers 
that are visiting the 
local wineries and 
employee parking in 
this lot. This location is 
adjacent to the new 
Queensgate Transit 
Center scheduled to 
open in August 2024. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



2024-2030 BFT TDP Page | 29 

Figure 24: Port of Benton Park & Ride  

Figure 25: Ed Frost Transit Center (Huntington) 

*A fence was constructed in 2019 that eliminated about 60 public parking spaces at Huntington. The small lot was leased
to the adjacent property owner for employee parking.

80% of this lot is 
leased to Inspire 



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 30 

 

Figure 26: Hapo Center (TRAC) Park & Ride 

 

 

Figure 27: 22nd Transit Center Park & Ride 

 

 

 



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 31 

 

 INTERCITY AND REGIONAL CONNECTIONS 

The Travel Washington intercity bus network, consisting of the Grape Line, Dungeness Line, Apple Line, and Gold Line, 
offers extensive connections across Washington state: 

 Grape Line: Operating since 2007, it serves the route between Walla Walla and Pasco, linking passengers with 
FlixBus (previously Greyhound), Amtrak, Ben Franklin Transit, and Valley Transit. 

 Dungeness Line: This line connects Port Angeles, Port Townsend, Seattle, and Sea-Tac International Airport, 
with additional connections to FlixBus, Amtrak, and Washington state ferries to Seattle and Victoria, B.C. 

 Apple Line: Covering a 160-mile route through Omak, Ellensburg, and Wenatchee, it connects with Amtrak, 
Northwestern Trailways, and FlixBus. 

 Gold Line: Running since 2010, it provides twice-daily service along US 395 to Spokane and key transit hubs, 
including Spokane International Airport. 

The program contracts with private bus operators and receives funding from the Federal Transit Administration. FlixBus 
contributes through a public-private partnership, offering connecting services as an in-kind match.  

BFT has been part of WSDOT’s recent Travel Washington Intercity Bus Program study and has given input regarding 
current interfacing with the Grape Line at 22nd Ave Transit Center. There is also a need for improved regional travel 
between northern areas of Franklin County and communities west of Prosser in the Yakima Valley. These communities 
are currently connected to BFT’s service area via People for People shuttles with limited trip offerings. 

BFT is actively collaborating with the Grape Line and People for People to enhance intercity connections and provide 
seamless transit options for passengers. BFT coordinates schedules with Grape Line to facilitate easy transfers between 
local BFT services and the Grape Line's intercity routes, including connections to the Tri-Cities Airport, Amtrak, and 
FlixBus. Additionally, BFT partners with People for People to offer complementary services, ensuring reliable 
transportation for underserved areas. BFT provides services to the following connections: 

 

Looking ahead, BFT plans to work with jurisdictional partners to begin discussions about expanding intercity connections 
and partnerships. However, this expansion is a complex process that requires time and careful planning. While 
immediate changes are not feasible, BFT is committed to gradually improving and expanding the intercity bus network 
as more funding becomes available.  

Amtrak & Greyhound 
Station, Pasco

provides passenger rail 
and interstate bus 

services

Tri-Cities Airport 
provides regional air 

transportation services

Grape Line
offers trips between 

Pasco and Walla Walla

People for People 
provides travel to the 
following:
oOthello, Connell, Basin 

City, and Mesa
oConnects to Route 170 

in Prosser with service 
to Yakima

https://wsdot.wa.gov/business-wsdot/grants/public-transportation-grants/grant-programs-and-awards/travel-washington-intercity-bus


 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 32 

 

ELEMENT 3: STATE & AGENCY GOALS, OBJECTIVES, & ACTION STRATEGIES 

WSDOT believes expanding public transportation supports Washington’s statewide transportation system policy goals: 
preservation, safety, stewardship, mobility, economic vitality, and environment. In addition, expanding public 
transportation would improve the relative performance of the transportation system for vulnerable populations in 
overburdened communities, decrease carbon emissions, reduce vehicle miles traveled, lower out-of-pocket costs per 
trip, and improve resiliency. As a transit agency operating in Washington State, BFT strives to align its goals, objectives 
and actions with WSDOT and other transit agencies providing public service to our states taxpayers.  

Washington State Legislative Priorities related to Public Transit 2024 per WSTA: 

 Preserve, Maintain, & Increase Public Transit Investments 
 Address Transit Workforce Challenges 
 Incentivize Transition to Zero-Emission Fleets 
 Support Behavioral Health Treatment Funding & Services Efforts 
 Protect the Effective and Efficient Delivery of Public Transit  

 
BFT will be readdressing our agencies goals and mission statement in late 2025. It has been almost ten years since BFT’s 
Board of Directors have worked towards a formal mission statement and strategic plan (Ben Franklin Transit Strategic 
Plan, 2015). BFT will leverage consultants brought on to develop a long-range transit plan to also foster the strategic 
plan development process. Table 4 and 5 show how BFT’s local priorities align with state goals established in the 
Washington State Transportation Plan. 

Table 4: 2024-2030 Goals, Objectives, Strategies, & Alignment with State Goals 

 

 

 

 

 

Goals, objectives, and strategies 

State goal areas 
Ec

on
om

ic 
vi

ta
lit

y 

Pr
es

er
va

tio
n 

Sa
fe

ty
 

M
ob

ili
ty

 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
t 

St
ew

ar
ds

hi
p 

Goal 1: Improve convenience, reliability, and customer service of transit services 

Objective 1.1: Improve transit service reliability. 
 
 

  

 
 

 

 
 

Strategy 1.1.1: Evaluate current transit reliability and on-time performance. x x x 

Strategy 1.1.2: Adjust schedules to enhance on-time performance. x x x 

Objective 1.2: Provide amenities to make transit more comfortable and 
convenient. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Strategy 1.2.1: Add more bus shelters/seating. x x x 

Objective 1.3: Ensure accessibility for non-motorized modes – walk, bike, 
and roll. 

  

 

 

 

 

  

Strategy 1.3.1: Identify transit access deficiencies at origins and 
destinations. x x 
Strategy 1.3.2: Complete prioritized list of non-motorized access deficiencies at 
bus stations and transit hubs by 2025. x x 



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 33 

 

Table 5: 2024-2030 Goals, Objectives, Strategies, & Alignment with State Goals (continued) 

Goals, objectives, and strategies 

State goal areas 

Ec
on

om
ic 

vi
ta

lit
y 

Pr
es

er
va

tio
n 

Sa
fe

ty
 

M
ob

ili
ty

 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
t 

St
ew

ar
ds

hi
p 

Goal 2: Improve operational safety and security       
Objective 2.1: Reduce accidents on transit vehicles. 

  

 

x  
  Strategy 2.1.1: Develop and implement a Safety Plan meeting the 

requirements of 49 C.F.R. Part 673 (Part 673) 
Objective 2.2: Make transit vehicles and facilities a secure environment for 
customers. 

  

 

x  

  Strategy 2.2.1: Expand surveillance cameras within transit facilities and in transit 
vehicles. 

Goal 3: Enhance the integration of transit services to support the economy and preserve the environment 
Objective 3.1: Reduce fossil fuels consumption by transitioning to 
alternative fuels. 

      Strategy 3.1.1: Conduct a study to identify a transition plan toward use of alternative 
fuels. 
Strategy 3.1.2: Procure alternative fuel transit vehicles and associated infrastructure. 

Goal 4: Maximize and expand transit services 
Objective 4.1: Maintain existing transit rolling stock & facilities in a state 
of good repair. 

 

 

x 

 

x  
  

Strategy 4.1.1: Increase capital expenditures to meet state of good repair targets. 

Objective 4.2: Match transit service coverage with passenger demand. 
 

 
  

 

 
  

Strategy 4.2.1: Provide local service earlier in the morning and later in the evening. x x 

Strategy 4.2.2: Provide Sunday service. x x 

Objective 4.3: Improve service for key priority populations.  

  

 

 

  Strategy 4.3.1: Evaluate service coverage and route design standards to improve 
access for low-income, youth, seniors, and people with - limited mobility and 
English proficiency. x x 

Strategy 4.3.2: Increase coverage in overburdened communities. x x 

Goal 5: Meet the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA). 
Objective 5.1: manage paratransit cost while continuing to meet ADA 
requirements. 

    

x  

 

x 
Strategy 5.1.1: Implement travel training program to teach passengers how to 
navigate transit services. 

 

  



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 34 

 

 FUNDING CONSIDERATIONS 

This plan assumes adequate funding to construct and operate all the projects highlighted within the plan unless 
otherwise noted. BFT has three primary sources of revenue: 

 

 Federal and State grant opportunities 
o BFT will continue to seek grant opportunities to construct capital projects. This will enable more local 

funding to be focused on service operations. 
 Fare revenue and ridership 

o BFT will continue to aggressively pursue opportunities to grow ridership. 
o Current financial projections do not include fare changes over the six-year planning horizon of this 

TDP. Any fare changes are subject to review, discussion, and public input. Fare changes also require a 
Title VI equity analysis. 

 Sales tax revenue 
o BFT has the authority, subject to voter approval, to collect up to 0.6% sales tax for general public 

transportation. Currently, BFT collects 0.6% sales tax within the Public Transportation Benefit Area 
(PTBA) in the Tri-Cities Region. The TDP assumes the sales tax authorized by voters in March 2002 will 
be maintained. 
 

 FUNDING RISK CONSIDERATIONS 

BFT faces some risk relative to two of its primary funding sources during the 2025-2030 period covered by this TDP: 

 

 State operating grants 
o In 2022, the Washington State legislature enacted Move Ahead Washington (MAW), a new state 

transportation funding package that provides $3 billion for public transportation over the next sixteen 
years, leveraging revenues created through the 2021 Climate Commitment Act (CCA). MAW funding 
added support to existing programs, specifically the Special Needs Grant Program, of which BFT is a 
recipient. Additionally, MAW led to the development of new funding programs, including the Transit 
Support Grant, whereby BFT is awarded formula funding commensurate with a zero-fare policy for 
youth riders, 18 years of age and under.  

o There is a Washington State Initiative 2117 (I-2117) which will appear on the ballot in November of 
2024 seeking to repeal the CCA. Should this I-2117 be approved by voters at the state level, the 
revenue source for MAW would disappear along with the grant programs that MAW funds beginning 
on July 1, 2025. This would result in a reduction of state operating grant funding during the 2025-2030 
period of $27.1 million as well as a reduction of $22.7 million in state capital grant funding for fleet 
diversification, mobility hubs and long-range service corridor engineering. As a result, BFT would have 
to adjust its operating and capital 2025-2030 Transit Development Plan expenditures, including 
possible service reductions as well as a reduction in the scope of the capital projects to align with this 
reduced source of funding. 

  



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 35 

 

ELEMENT 4: LOCAL PERFORMANCE MEASURES & TARGETS 

BFT's current strategies focus on advancing economic vitality by serving as the 
primary regional transportation provider connecting people to jobs, schools, 
shopping, and social services, complementing WSDOT's highway road 
improvements. BFT is strategically positioned to support economic growth 
within the PTBA.  

The agency's mission centers on enhancing fixed route transit services to meet 
the region's rapid development. This includes plans to improve service 
frequency, coverage, and connectivity. BFT collaborates closely with member 
jurisdictions to align service expansions with local economic aspirations. 

Recent initiatives highlight BFT's commitment to economic vitality, such as the 
development of new transit hubs funded by WSDOT Regional Mobility Grants. 
Notably, the upcoming completion of the Queensgate Transit Center and 
ongoing negotiations for the West Pasco Transit Center underscore BFT's 
proactive approach in meeting community needs and fostering economic 
development. These efforts are integral to BFT's broader goal of promoting 
sustainable growth and improving regional mobility. 

As BFT engages in its 20-year long-range planning, performance measures will 
be established to evaluate progress toward the strategic goals and objectives. 
BFT will use WSDOT's recommended performance targets for all Transit Agencies (Table 6). WSDOT used these common 
metrics to produce the WSDOT Annual Public Transportation Summary. BFT’s ongoing commitment to these goals and 
strategies reflects the agency’s dedication to creating a reliable, safe, and accessible transit system for all members of 
our community. As BFT welcomes new leadership, the agency looks forward to furthering these initiatives and 
continuously improving services. 

Table 6: WSDOT Recommended Performance Targets 

Performance measure Target 

On-time performance Fixed route: % on time. Paratransit: % of all arrivals within 30-minute pick-up window. 

Amenities Set a target for warranted amenities at the most active stops by 2028. 

Connectivity Improve non-motorized access deficiencies at existing bus stops and transit centers. 

Collisions Maintain a standard for target rate of collisions. 

Alternative fuels Convert the existing vehicle fleet to green, environmentally friendly fuel by 2025. 

Transit Productivity Establish threshold targets for passengers/revenue hour my mode. 

Vehicle State of Good 
Repair Maintain rolling stock within a high rate of “State of Good Repair.” 

Equipment in Good 
Repair Maintain non-revenue equipment (+$50K) at a high rate of “State of Good Repair.” 

Facility State of Good 
Repair Maintain a minimum overall high rate of “State of Good Repair.” 

Span of Service Site targets for expanded service hours / days of week. 

Coverage Specific monitoring of dependent riders in service area, with targets for accommodating: 
low-income, youth, older adults, persons with disability 

https://www.wsdot.wa.gov/publications/manuals/fulltext/M3079/spt.pdf


 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 36 

 

 FIXED ROUTE ON-TIME PERFORMANCE (OTP)  

Fixed Route On-Time Performance (OTP) has maintained an average of 90.92% over the past three years. Between 2021 
and 2023, OTP declined by 2%, marked by a 21% decrease in early arrivals and a 64% increase in late arrivals resulting 
from increased ridership and traffic congestion. Although minimal adjustments to running times were made during this 
period, close monitoring of OTP is underway as BFT explores potential shifts from static all-day run times to a more 
efficient peak/off-peak run time. In 2023, BFT enlisted the services of CSched to bolster analytic procedures. Leveraging 
CSched's advanced analysis tool, HASTUS ATP, and tapping into historical run-time GPS data, initial findings suggest that 
transitioning to peak adjustments could enhance OTP. Recommendations are expected to be implemented in June 2025. 
The adjustments are expected to accommodate possible increases in traffic, population, and ridership over the next 
three years. 

 TRANSIT ASSET MANAGEMENT (TAM) 

 ESTIMATING CAPITAL INVESTMENT NEEDS 

BFT uses analytical processes and decision-support tools to estimate and plan for capitalization investment needs 
through asset life-cycle planning. 49 CFR § 625.25(b)(3)  

 

 INVESTMENT PRIORITIZATION 

BFT engages in an iterative capital planning process where capital investment needs and requests are evaluated by 
the Capital Improvement Committee (CIC). 49 CFR § 625.25(b)(4) and 625.33 

The CIC evaluates requests based on: 

• Safety considerations • Alignment with strategic 
objectives 

• Support for maintaining 
a State of Good Repair 
(SGR) 

Projects are ranked based on their ability to mitigate identified safety risks and improve/maintain SGR over a four-
year horizon. The CIC assesses funding levels from all available sources and the likelihood of receiving these funds 
each fiscal year. The six-year rolling Capital Improvement Program (CIP) is updated and presented to the Board of 
Directors annually for approval. 

•A forecast model based on vehicle Useful Life (UL).

Fleet Management Plan

•Annual reports assessing vehicle asset conditions based on the Transit Economic Requirements Model 
(TERM) scale.

Vehicle Master Reports

•Annual reports assessing facility asset conditions based on the TERM scale.

Asset Master Reports

•Reports prepared at least every four years assessing facility asset conditions based on the TERM scale.

Facilities Condition Assessment



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 37 

 

 TAM AND SGR POLICY 

The TAM plan allows BFT to predict the impact of policies and investment decisions on asset conditions throughout 
their life cycle as well as the ability to enhance or maintain SGR by proactively investing in assets before their 
conditions deteriorate. BFT's SGR policy includes prevention, preservation, maintenance, inspection, rehabilitation, 
disposal, and replacement of capital assets. The goal is to predict and manage the costs to improve asset conditions at 
various stages of the asset life cycle, balancing capital, operating, and expansion needs. The two foundational criteria of 
SGR performance measures are the Useful Life Benchmark (ULB) and asset condition. 

 

BFT’s TAM Plan aims to: 

 
49 CFR § 625.25(b)(5) 

A capital asset is in State of Good Repair when: 

 
49 CFR § 625.41 

 

 

 BFT STATE OF GOOD REPAIR 

 

Table 7: Fixed Route Fleet Summary 

Year in Service Make/Model Units Length Seats Wheelchair Cost TAM Score 

2013 Gillig Low Floor 4 40 ft 37 2 $403,888 3 

2013 Gillig Low Floor 1 40 ft 38 2 No Cost 2 

2014 Gillig Low Floor 5 40 ft 37 2 $427,504 3 

2015 Gillig Low Floor 4 40 ft 37 2 $427,604 3 

2015 Gillig Low Floor 7 40 ft 37 2 $450,691 3 

2016 
Gillig Low Floor 

(Trolley) 
3 35 ft 30 2 $556,699 3 

2018 Gillig Low Floor 6 29 ft 23 2 $443,943 4 

2018 Gillig Low Floor 13 35 ft 30 2 $454,972 4 

2022 Gillig Low Floor 9 40 ft 37 2 $523,364 5 

2023 Gillig Low Floor 5 35 ft 33 2 $607,273 5 

2023 Gillig Low Floor 14 40 ft 37 2 $616,072 5 

Total Fixed Route Vehicles 71     

 

Assess the current 
condition of capital assets.

Determine the desired condition and 
performance of assets (if not in SGR).

Identify unacceptable risks, including 
safety risks, of using assets not in SGR.

Balance and prioritize anticipated funds to 
improve asset conditions and achieve 

performance goals.

It performs its manufactured 
design function.

It does not pose an 
unacceptable safety risk.

Its life-cycle investment 
needs are met.



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 38 

 

Table 8: Dial-A-Ride Fleet Summary 

Year in Service Make/Model Units Length Seats Wheelchair Cost TAM Score 

2014 Eldorado Aerotech 220 8 24 ft 6 3 $81,280 3 

2014 Eldorado Aerotech 220 1 24 ft 6 4 $85,962 3 

2014 Eldorado Aerotech 240 4 24 ft 11 3 $84,064 3 

2014 Eldorado Aerotech 240 1 24 ft 6 4 $85,962 3 

2015 Eldorado Aerotech 220 1 24 ft 6 3 $81,280 4 

2015 Eldorado Aerotech 240  2 24 ft 11 3 $84,884 4 

2015 Eldorado Aerotech 240 3 24 ft 11 3 $83,245 4 

2018 Eldorado Aerotech 240 21 24 ft 11 3 $88,601 4 

2018 Eldorado Aerotech 240 3 24 ft 6 4 $90,503 4 

2018 Eldorado Aerotech 240 5 24 ft 11 3 $91,926 4 

2019 Eldorado Aerotech 240 3 24 ft 11 3 $92,583 5 

2020 Eldorado Aerotech 220 9 24 ft 6 3 $87,089 5 

2020 Eldorado Aerotech 240 16 24 ft 11 3 $88,954 5 

2020 Eldorado Aerotech Liquid Springs 4 24 ft 11 3 $102,083 5 

2020 Eldorado Express G4 1 24 ft 6 3 $87,089 5 

Total Dial-A-Ride Vehicles 82    

 

Table 9: The Arc of the Tri-Cities Fleet Summary 

Year in Service Make/Model Units Length Seats Wheelchair Cost TAM Score 

2008 Chevy Express 1 12ft 12   $21,949 1 

2009 Dodge Caravan 1 16ft 7     1 

2010 Chevy Express 7 19ft 12   $4,100 1 

2010 Chevy Express 2 19ft 12   $4,900 2 

2010 Chevy Express 4 19ft 12   $24,270 2 

2014 Eldorado Aerotech 240  3 24 ft  11 3 $83,245 3 

2015 Eldorado Aerotech 240 1 24 ft  11 3 $83,245 3 

2018 Eldorado Aerotech 240 6 24 ft 11 3 $88,718 4 

2020 Eldorado Aerotech 240 4  24 ft  11 3 $97,332 5 

Total ARC of Tri-Cities Vehicles 29      

 

  



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 39 

 

Table 10: Non-revenue Vehicles & Equipment 

Year in Service Make/Model Units Seats Cost TAM Score 

1994 Triton Flatbed Trailer 1 3 $1,082 3 

1995 Ford F350 4x4 1 3 $24,565 2 

1998 Triton Flatbed Trailer 1   $1,080 2 

2003 Iron Eagle Flatbed Trailer 1   $2,810 3 

2004 Chevy Express 2 15 $21,814 1 

2004 Dodge Caravan 2 7 $20,482 1 

2005 Chevy Silverado 1 3 $52,062 2 

2006 Ford Freestar 1 7 $16,912 1 

2007 Chevy Express 1 15 $21,242 2 

2008 Chevy Express 2 15 $22,886 2 

2008 Ford Taurus X 9 6 $20,842 2 

2009 Dodge Caravan 2 7 $7,200 1 

2009 Toyota Sienna 4 7 $23,320 1 

2010 Chevy Express 1 12 $4,900 2 

2010 Dodge Caravan 15 7 $24,805 2 

2013 Dodge Caravan 2 7 $22,008 3 

2015 Ford F150  1 3 $28,197 3 

2016 Landa Trailer  1 0 $15,101 3 

2016 Ram 3500 1 5 $41,685 4 

2017 Ford F150 1 5 $38,661 3 

2018 Chevy Silverado 1 3 $56,630 4 

2018 Kubota M7060hdc12 1   $54,678 4 

2018 Kubota Rtv X1100c 3   $26,798 4 

2018 Pjtm Flatbed Trailer 1   $8,145 4 

2019 Kubota Attachment Spreader 1   $5,791 4 

2019 Toyota  8fgu30 Forklift 1   $37,534 4 

2020 Ford Ranger 10 5 $33,780  4 

2021 Honda Snowrator 1   $16,510  4 

2021 Isuzu Nnr Nu2 54 1   $137,055  4 

2023 Ford F-550 4x4 Drw 1 3 $142,715 5 

Total Non-revenue Vehicles & Equipment 71    

 

 



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 40 

 

 SAFETY PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENTS & TARGETS 

The Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan (PTASP) 
for BFT is consistent with and supports an SMS 
approach (Figure 28) to safety risk management. SMS 
is an integrated collection of policies, processes and 
behaviors that ensures a formalized, proactive and 
data-driven approach to safety risk management. The 
aim of SMS is to increase the safety of transit systems 
by proactively identifying, assessing, and controlling 
safety risks. The approach is flexible and scalable, so 
that transit agencies of all types and sizes can 
efficiently meet the basic requirements of MAP-21.  
 
From 2022 to 2023, BFT’s focus on incident reporting 
and safety measures has led to several key 
improvements. Modernizing and upgrading safety reporting software to Trackit Manager now allows staff to submit 
incident and driver reports more easily, simplifying and expediting the process. This improved process has resulted in 
more recorded incidents for 2023 since the process was manual before. This indicates better monitoring and awareness 
of safety issues across all areas and departments. The agency’s Safety team has also created an awareness campaign to 
minimize incidents and provide safety tips, particularly in Fixed Route Operations and DAR Operations. Previous reports 
indicated the need for heightened safety awareness and a more proactive approach to identifying and addressing safety 
concerns. Digital reports now allow the agency to quickly pinpoint areas that require immediate attention and 
improvement. Staff will focus on emerging issues by identifying new incidents in previously incident-free divisions, 
allowing the agency to target safety interventions more effectively and implement preventative measures to reduce 
future incidents. By recognizing these improvements and continuing to refine BFT’s safety protocols, staff will be better 
positioned to enhance the overall safety and reliability of the agency’s transit operations. 

 FIVE-YEAR OUTLOOK 

Over the next five years, BFT’s training department will undergo a significant transformation to enhance safety and 
transit services: 

 2024: Comprehensive Driver Training Programs 
o Target: Develop and implement comprehensive driver training and ride/drive programs. 
o Measure: All drivers will be equipped with essential skills for safe and efficient transit operations. 
o Goal: Achieve a 15% reduction in incidents related to driver error. 

 2025: Defensive Driving Focus 
o Target: Intensify emphasis on defensive driving techniques. 
o Measure: All drivers will undergo advanced defensive driving training. 
o Goal: Reduce collision rates by 20% across the transit system. 

 2026: Organization-Wide Training and Talent Development 
o Target: Expand training efforts to include organization-wide training and talent development. 
o Measure: All staff will participate in skill refinement and safety enhancement programs. 
o Goal: Improve overall safety performance metrics by 25%. 

Through continuous and focused training, BFT aims to elevate communication, safety, and customer service 
standards, ensuring ongoing excellence and reliability in service delivery to the communities served. By meeting these 
performance measures and targets, BFT will enhance its safety culture and operational efficiency. 

Figure 28: SMS Components 



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 41 

 

ELEMENT 5: PLAN CONSISTENCY 

BFT is a voting member of the Transportation Policy Committee of the Benton Franklin County Regional Transportation 
Planning Organization. In this capacity, BFT participates in policy and programming decisions for transportation projects 
and services. 

 

 

Benton Franklin Council of Governments (BFCOG) provided the following statement regarding BFT: 

BFCOG works with Ben Franklin Transit, the region’s largest transit operator, to plan transit services for Benton and 
Franklin Counties. BFCOG works closely with Ben Franklin Transit on the development of BFCOG’s METROpolitan 
Transportation Plan and the Human Services Transportation Plan, as Ben Franklin Transit provides a vital service to help 
ensure all members of the region can be mobile with or without a vehicle. As our region continues to grow and traffic 
congestion becomes a daily event, the need for commuter-focused transit routes will increase to accommodate for daily 
traffic. BFT coordinates with other member agencies to prepare and regularly update the regional transportation plan. 
This coordination promotes integration between land use, public transit, and other transportation modes. 

 

 

In addition, BFT’s programs, services, and five key priorities outlined in Tables 4 and 5 are consistent with the following 
transportation goals and policies in Benton and Franklin Counties’ Comprehensive Plans: 

 

 

 

 

 

Goal 8A-3 Work with other agencies and jurisdictions to coordinate a safe, 
accessible, and integrated system of public transportation.

Policy 8A-3.1 Transit Support – Encourage citizens and businesses to use transit as 
an alternative to the single-occupant vehicle.

Policy 8A-3.3
Support adequate funds for transportation systems to provide for 
those who, through age and/or disability, are unable to transport 
themselves.

Policy 8A-3.6

Encourage coordination among public transit service providers, and 
between the public transit network and the non-motorized 
transportation system, to promote a more integrated transportation 
system for those traveling by means other than a private 
automobile.



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 42 

 

 

 

 

 

BFT serves six (6) cities (Kennewick, Pasco, Richland, West Richland, Prosser, and Benton City) whose Comprehensive 
Plans outline how their jurisdictions will encourage and promote transit via goals and policies in their Land Use and 
Transposition elements. BFT staff works with these jurisdictions to plan and implement transit services and 
infrastructure in a way that increases accessibility and mobility options for our areas’ population.  

 

Specific efforts by BFT to actively engages in the development and support of the Transportation and Land Use goal and 
policies of the local jurisdictions include: 

 

  

BFT collaborates with local jurisdictions and developers to 
support transit-oriented development projects, which integrate 
residential, commercial, and recreational spaces within walking 
distance of public transit hubs to reduce reliance on single-
occupant vehicles and promote sustainable urban growth.

Promote Transit-Oriented 
Development (TOD)

BFT takes an active role in regional and local transportation 
planning efforts, ensuring that future transportation 
infrastructure projects align with public transit needs and 
facilitate smooth intercity connections.

Participate in Long-Range 
Transportation Planning

BFT works with local jurisdictions to ensure that transit services 
and facilities are accessible to all individuals, including those with 
disabilities, seniors, and other mobility-challenged populations. 
This includes advocating for the implementation of universal 
design principles in transportation infrastructure.

Enhance Accessibility for All Users

BFT partners with local governments and environmental 
organizations to implement and support policies that reduce the 
carbon footprint of the transportation sector, such as expanding 
the electric bus fleet, promoting renewable energy use, and 
supporting green infrastructure projects.

Support Environmental Sustainability 
Initiatives



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 43 

 

ELEMENT 6: PLANNED CAPITAL EXPENSES 

 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM 

The development of a six-year capital improvement program (CIP) provides a mid-term horizon for prioritizing 
resources, developing budgets, enhancing the transit system, and maintaining existing assets and resources in good 
repair. Having the CIP, as a component of the Transit Development Plan, connects the goals and policies of BFT and the 
Transit Asset Management Plan (TAM). 
 

Figure 29: BFT Capital Improvement Program 

*CIP reflects expenditures through 12/31/2023 

 

The programs in this CIP are presented in the following pages. Programs may include more than one project that 
together moves toward a common objective, improves a common facility, or represents similar kinds of assets. The 
programs have been reviewed to consider fiscal impact and organizational requirements. As such, the projects are 
applied to the agency’s financial resources during the period as programmed commitments. In some cases, a program 
may relate to unfunded projects listed later in the CIP. Including the complete program will require additional resources 
above those available or reprioritization of projects when needed. By identifying a project in the CIP’s unfunded program 
list, it may be eligible for grants and special appropriations from outside sources. 

Revenue Vehicles   
48,557,536 

28%
Non-Revenue Vehicles  

1,154,651 
0%

Ops & Maintenance Bus & 
Shop Equip., Technology, & 

Software  17,036,836 
10%Ops & Maintenance New 

Building Construction   
27,575,000 

16%

Planning & Service 
Facility Upgrades   

5,142,212 
3%

Service Facility Upgrades 
& Software  50,000 

0%

Planning & Service New 
Facility Construction  

62,418,009 
36%

Administration MOA Campus 
Upgrades, Software, & Equipment   

11,723,551 
7%

BFT Capital Improvement Program 
$173 Million thru Year 2030



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 44 

 

Figure 30: BFT Capital Improvement 2024-2030 

The 2024-2030 BFT TDP 
incorporates a scale of 
construction that has not been 
witnessed since the completion 
of the new Maintenance, 
Operations, and Administration 
Building (Leeds Award) in 
September 2011. The most 
advanced construction is the 
long-awaited complement to the 
MOA Campus of the new 
Operations Expansion Building 
($16M) which will be completed 

Summer of 2024. Meanwhile there are three transit centers various stages of development and a substantial financial 
commitment to improving access and amenities at bus stops. The CIP 2024-2030 package has an approved project 
amount of $174 Million less $27 Million of project expenses incurred through December 31, 2023, for a remaining 
distribution of $147 Million.  

 

Table 11: Total Capital Improvement Program By Year 

  Local State Federal Totals 
 2024 $26,408,105 $7,858,363 $2,540,056 $36,806,524 
 2025 $36,663,074 $2,598,820 $4,343,892 $43,605,786 
2026 $21,499,404 $9,989,414 - $31,488,818 
2027 $15,075,565 $2,406,667 - $17,482,232 
2028 $3,357,513 $283,333 - $3,640,846 
2029 $1,888,304 $566,667 - $2,454,971 
2030 $11,579,693 - - $11,579,693 
2024-2030 $116,471,658 $23,703,264 $6,883,948 $147,058,870 

 

All Federally funded projects programmed by BFT are defined as regionally significant projects and should be contained 
in the STIP. At the local level certain projects have a significant impact on the jurisdictional coordination in the region, 
these projects can be seen in Appendix 3. The projects on this list are largely the improvements associated with moving 
passengers safely and reliably throughout the community. However, BFT, as a responsible large employer, also has a 
responsibility to their own workforce and improving the environment they work in. 

 

BFT will coordinate with BFCOG to incorporate these into the Transportation Improvement Program. 

 

  

Federal Share
5%

State Share 
16%

Local Share 
79%

BFT Capital Improvement 2024-2030



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 45 

 

Tables 12 through 17 provide a breakdown of the approved CIP program. 

Table 12: Revenue Vehicles 

Category  CIP 2024-2030 (Approved 12/14/2023) Units Approved Project 
FLT0024  BUS - Electric  2 $3,046,105  
FLT0037  BUS     7 $4,994,920  
FLT0046 BUS - Electric (2025-26) 13 $14,300,000  
FLT0050 BUS - Mini  3 $903,624  
FLT0031  DAR  12 $1,956,000  
FLT0034  DAR  12 $1,956,000  
FLT0039 DAR 12 $2,323,728  
FLT0042 DAR 8 $1,626,608  
FLT0045  DAR (5310 Funds) 5 $717,676  
FLT0047 DAR 35 $7,472,255  
FLT0027 VAN 40 $1,843,560  
FLT0032 VAN 40 $2,408,140  
FLT0035 VAN 40 $2,408,140  
FLT0040 VAN 40 $2,600,780  
 Subtotal Revenue Vehicles  269 $48,557,536  

 

Table 13: Non-Revenue Vehicles 

Category  CIP 2024-2030 (Approved 12/14/2023) Units Approved Project 
FLT0028  Non-Revenue - Service Truck  2 $245,000 
FLT0033  Non-Revenue - Service Truck  1 $125,983 
FLT0036  Non-Revenue - Service Truck  1 $138,581 
FLT0041  Non-Revenue - Service Truck  1 $149,668 
FLT0043  Non-Revenue - Service Truck  1 $157,151 
FLT0048 Non-Revenue Vehicle  1 $165,009 
FLT0049 Non-Revenue Vehicle  1 $173,259 
 Subtotal Non- Revenue Vehicles  8 $1,154,651  

 

Table 14: Ops & Maintenance New Building Construction 

Category  CIP 2024-2030 (Approved 12/14/2023) Approved Project 
FAC0017 Operations - MOA - Operations Expansion Building  $16,000,000  
FAC0023 Maintenance - MOA - Facility Maintenance Building $5,575,000  
FAC0030 Maintenance - West Pasco - fleet maintenance base  $6,000,000  

Subtotal Ops & Maintenance New Building Construction  $27,575,000  

 

  



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 46 

 

Table 15: Ops & Maintenance 

Category CIP 2024-2030 (Approved 12/14/2023) Approved Project 
EQP0012 3 Rivers Backup Location     $250,000 
EQP0017 Printer, Blaster, & Laminator Vanpool                  -  
EQP0018 Rolling Stock Overhauls   $1,500,000 
TSS0001 Security Plan - evaluation, equipment, & safety related improvements  $1,750,000 
TEC0005 Technology - onboard system integration   $3,018,826 
TEC0012 Technology - Operations software  $2,158,000 
TEC0014 Technology - Transit Signal Priority (TSP)     $300,000 
TEC0019 Technology - Training Unit Driving Simulator      $400,000 
FAC0024 Systemwide - MOA/Transit Hub/P&R-alternative fueling infrastructure   $1,280,000 

FAC0002 Maintenance - MOA - upgrade hoist, fluid system-handling & disposal, 
bays, compressors  $6,380,010 

Subtotal Ops & Maintenance Bus and Shop Equip, Technology, and Software $17,036,836 

 

Table 16: Planning & Service Facility Upgrades 

Category CIP 2024-2030 (Approved 12/14/2023) Approved Project 
FAC0007  Transit Center - renovate  $522,212  
FAC0031 Transit Center - renovate 22nd Street $2,500,000  
FAC0025 Transit Center - re-use  $1,620,000  
FAC0036 Facility Condition Assessment (FAC) $500,000  
Planning & Service facility upgrades $5,142,212 

 

Table 17: Administration MOA Campus 

Category CIP 2024-2030 (Approved 12/14/2023) Approved Project 

TEC0010 Technology - telephone, replace hardware etc.                 $3,383,551 

TEC0011 Technology - Records Management System software                              $300,000 

TEC0013 Technology - Fare Collection, needs analysis, project scoping, 
software                  $1,000,000 

TEC0017 Technology - Consolidated Transit Reporting Software                          $300,000 

OTH0001 Technology - ERP, needs analysis, project scoping, software                   $4,000,000  

OTH0005  Technology - business continuity IT equipment and 
infrastructure                         $450,000  

OTH0009 Event Tents Marketing                                            -  

FAC0005 MOA Campus - general improvements  $2,290,000 

Administration MOA Campus Upgrades, Software, & Equipment  $11,723,551 

 

Appendix 2 outlines BFT’s planned capital expenses for 2024-2030. 

  



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 47 

 

ELEMENT 7: PLANNED OPERATING CHANGES 

Over the past 5 years BFT has made significant service changes that have resulted in more geographic coverage, 
increased frequencies, expanded service span, as well as the implementation of fixed route and demand response 
services on Sunday. These changes, coupled with recovery from COVID-19 ridership reductions, have led to significant 
increases in ridership on the majority of modes provided. 

In 2021, BFT moved to an Annual Service Plan (ASP) process to define all service changes that would take place 
throughout the calendar year. The ASP development process is closely aligned to BFT’s budget cycle within a short-term 
multiyear forecast. The ASP is an annual document that outlines specific service changes planned for the next year and 
identifies potential future changes that are needed based on quantitative and qualitative input gathered internally, 
from our partner jurisdiction, and most importantly, from the riders who use our services. 

Table 18 outlines BFT’s planned operating changes for 2024-2030. Regarding fixed route service, BFT is anticipating 
guidance from the 20-year long-range plan that will be completed in early 2025. BFT plans to implement improvements 
utilizing the comprehensive long-range plan as a guide, these changes will be backed by robust data, community 
feedback, and alignment with jurisdictional priorities. This approach ensures BFT’s transit services are effective and 
responsive to community needs. Due to unknown budgetary constraints, minimal changes for capturing exceptional 
growth in Pasco are expected in 2025. Community input is crucial throughout this process to ensure the plan meets the 
needs and concerns of the residents, aiming to make commutes smoother, safer, and more affordable. 

Table 18: 2024-2030 Summary of Planned Operating Changes 

Year Type Reduction Expansion/ 
Improvement 

2024 

• Fixed Route:  
o Minimal changes ahead of the potential repeal of the 

Climate Commitment Act and Move Ahead Washington 
funds (Initiative 2117).  

o Implementation of Queensgate Transit Center.  
• DAR: No changes planned 
• Rideshare:  
• CONNECT: Fare structure evaluation 

- Minimal 

2025 
• Minimal increased service in Pasco to match growth 
• Introduction of Express Routes to decrease crosstown commutes 

(pending funding opportunities)   
- Minimal 

2026 • Introduction of Downtown and West Pasco Transit Center -  

2027+ 

Looking forward to 2027 and beyond, BFT is committed to continuing to 
improve service guided by the implementation of the long-range plan, 
future plans could potentially include: 

• Geographic expansion 
• Increased service frequencies 
• Enhanced amenities for improved transit experience 
• Leveraging technological advancements for real-time updates and 

efficient route planning 
• Expanding bilingual services & outreach for inclusivity/accessibility  
• Improve experience for current riders & attract more choice riders 
• Future Benton City, Prosser, Southridge park & ride facilities* 

  

*Continued enhancements of amenities and integration of Benton City, Prosser, and Southridge Passenger Facilities 
(Pending CCA funding) 



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 48 

 

ELEMENT 8: MULTIYEAR FINANCIAL PLAN 

The operating and financial projections included in this plan are based on key assumptions developed by the 
BFT Board of Directors through the development of service plans, sales tax growth assumptions, fare revenue 
assumptions and the capital improvement program. 

 

The following is a representation of the budgeted figures for 2024 and the projections for the years 2025-
2030. 

 
Table 19: 2024 to 2030 Projections 

 

The multiyear finance plan combines the results of the capital plan and the operating financial plan; year-by-year for 
the current budget year and forecasts for the next five years. The cash flow analysis reflects BFT agency’s restrictions 
on operating and capital funds.  

 
 BFT uses the accrual basis of accounting.  
 BFT is a member of the Washington State Transit Insurance Pool.  
 BFT maintains an adequate reserve fund 

  



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 49 

 

 SERVICE EXPANSION REVENUE HOUR PROJECTIONS FOR CASH FLOW  

The methodology for establishing the service expansion costs for the cash flow analysis relies on the revenue hours of 
service performance metric. An alternating pattern of expansion encourages a proper impact evaluation after each 
major change. It also gives the public a chance to orient themselves to the changes in the expansion offerings. The 
pattern of fixed route expansion was then replicated to Dial-A-Ride services. 

 
Table 20: Revenue Hours by Mode 

 
 

ELEMENT 9: PROJECTS OF REGIONAL SIGNIFICANCE 
All federally funded projects programmed by BFT are defined as regionally significant and according to federal guidelines 
must be included in the State Transportation Improvement Program (STIP). At the local level certain projects have a 
significant impact on the jurisdictional coordination in the region, these projects can be seen in Appendix 3. The projects 
on this list are largely the improvements associated with moving passengers safely and reliably throughout the 
community. However, BFT, as a responsible large employer, also has a responsibility to their own workforce and 
improving the environment they work in. Many of these on-site major capital investments will be listed in this section, 
as they do or are anticipated to involve Federal and State funding, most will be agglomerated for brevity. 
 
The WSDOT TDP Guidebook suggests a separate section to identify regionally significant projects for inclusion in the 
State and Regional Transportation Improvement Program. To satisfy this requirement, BFT reorganized projects from the 
capital improvement program to categorize projects for incorporation into the Benton Franklin Council of Government 
Transportation Improvement Program (TIP). 
Source: RCW 35.58.2795, RCW 47.80.023(5), WAC 468-86-160TRANSIT DEVELOPMENT PLAN OPTIONAL ELEMENTS 
 

BFT uses the Transit Development Plan as a communication tool to articulate the agency’s plan to comply with 
emerging state and federal requirements, including: 

 
 Measures for service to vulnerable populations in overburdened communities and tribal support of 

projects under the Climate Commitment Act 
 Efforts to develop and implement a zero-emission fleet transition plan, required for federal Buses and Bus 

Facilities Programs (Section 5339(b)) and Low or No Emissions grants (Section 5339(c)) 
  

https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=35.58.2795
https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=47.80.023
https://apps.leg.wa.gov/wac/default.aspx?cite=468-86-160
https://www.transit.dot.gov/bus-program#:%7E:text=The%20Grants%20for%20Buses%20and%20Bus%20Facilities%20Program,modify%20low%20or%20no%20emission%20vehicles%20or%20facilities.
https://www.transit.dot.gov/bus-program#:%7E:text=The%20Grants%20for%20Buses%20and%20Bus%20Facilities%20Program,modify%20low%20or%20no%20emission%20vehicles%20or%20facilities.


 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 50 

 

The physical infrastructure associated with the buildout of the five-year network vision will involve: 

 

In addition, common features will include security upgrades, internet, and customer interfacing information.  

 

WORKS CITED 

April 1 Official Population Estimates. (n.d.). Retrieved from 
https://ofm.wa.gov/sites/default/files/public/dataresearch/pop/april1/ofm_april1_population_final.pdf 

Ben Franklin Transit. (2024, February 8). Retrieved from Fare Structure: Board Of Directors Meeting: 
https://shorturl.at/uyt3f 

Ben Franklin Transit Strategic Plan. (2015, 2 12). Retrieved from Ben Franklin Transit: https://shorturl.at/bbESl 

City of Kennewick: Comprehensive Plan 2021-2041. (n.d.). Retrieved from 
https://www.go2kennewick.com/DocumentCenter/View/9723/Comprehensive-Plan-Together-we-are-One-
Kennewick 

City of Richland Comprehensive Plan - Supporting Analysis (2017). (n.d.). Retrieved from 
https://www.ci.richland.wa.us/home/showpublisheddocument/7464/636559535226100000 

Volume II, Supporting Analysis, Comprehensive Plan, 2018 to 2038. (n.d.). Retrieved from https://www.pasco-
wa.gov/DocumentCenter/View/62980/City-of-Pasco-2018-2038-Comprehensive-Plan-Volume-2 

Volume II: Supporting Analysis, Comprehensive Plan, 2018-2038, City of Pasco, Washington. (n.d.). Retrieved from 
https://www.pasco-wa.gov/DocumentCenter/View/62980/City-of-Pasco-2018-2038-Comprehensive-Plan-
Volume-2 

 

Queensgate
•Route planning
•Infrastructure for charging stations (i.e., 

bus and auto)
•Queensgate Dr. extension

West Pasco
•Transit oriented development
•Park and ride
•Infrastructure for charging station 

(i.e., bus and park and ride)

Downtown Pasco
•Customer Service and ADA presence

•Depending on funding availability, the 
project may have significant scope 
change 



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP    

Page | 51 

 

Page | 51 

 

APPENDIX  

APPENDIX 1: BFT ORGANIZATIONAL CHART 

 

  



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  
  

Page | 52 

Page | 52 

 

APPENDIX 2: CIP YEAR BY YEAR 

 

 

  

 

 

 



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 53 

 

APPENDIX 3: PROGRAM OF PROJECTS COST SPLIT 

 



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 54 

 

APPENDIX 4: FLEET REPLACEMENT GAP 

 

 

 

  



 

2024-2030 BFT TDP  Page | 55 

 

APPENDIX 5: PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD 

The TDP 30-day public comment period  was July 8 to August 8, 2024. The following legal notice was posted in Tri-city 
Herald on July 8.  

The following open houses were schedules during the public 
comment period: 

 Open Houses 
o Three Rivers Transit Center July 11 at 12 pm  

Address: 7109 W. Okanogan Place, Kenn.  
o Virtual Open House July 17 at 12 pm  

Zoom link: https://shorturl.at/gyK14 
 Public Hearing 

o Benton County Administration Building August 8 at 6pm 
Address: 7122 W. Okanogan Place Building E, Kenn. 
Zoom link: https://shorturl.at/VcV9R  

 

During the 30-day public comment period (July 8 – August 8), 
BFT received the following feedback: 

 No comments have been received to date. Any 
comments received during public hearing will be added 
to final document.  

To promote awareness and gain more feedback, the 
document, the open comment period, and the open houses 
were also emailed to jurisdictional partners, Board members, 
and media for their review and feedback. Media reached out, 
and our Chief Planning and Development Officer, Kevin Sliger, 
was interviewed by Apple Valley News Now. The plan was also 
featured on KNDU News and in the Tri-City Herald. 

 

APPENDIX 6: BOARD ADOPTION 

Memo and resolution will be added after Board adoption on August 8, 2024. 

https://shorturl.at/gyK14
https://shorturl.at/VcV9R
https://www.applevalleynewsnow.com/news/bft-transportation-plan-ready-for-public-review-and-comment/article_806c6cc4-3ff2-11ef-922d-5bd7e80adae1.html


Agency Performance Second Quarter 2024



Q2 2024 Ridership
     Annual Total System Boardings

                * Please note that June DAR Data is not finalized due to Ranger outages experienced during the last 2 weeks of June 

2

Q2 Highlight: Increase of 10.54% since Q2 
2023

Ridership Trends: YTD Δ 2023/2024 = 10.54%
Click HERE to view trends from 2020 through 2024

https://app.powerbigov.us/groups/me/reports/b26437bc-2b78-4e75-aff8-277992173eed/ReportSectione9772b592d9257742226?ctid=702b5558-842a-4224-9734-71b3400769e0&pbi_source=shareVisual&visual=94deb7f4a409b01725a5&height=431.11&width=1270.00&bookmarkGuid=88ff52da-d4dc-4aa4-9fa4-068ce7a35849


Fixed Route Q2 Performance Q2 Highlight: Increase of 14.26% since Q2 
2023

Ridership Trends: YTD Δ 2023/2024 = 14.26%
Click HERE to view trends from 2020 through 2024

https://app.powerbigov.us/groups/me/reports/b26437bc-2b78-4e75-aff8-277992173eed/ReportSection75502ee75d36c29db020?ctid=702b5558-842a-4224-9734-71b3400769e0&pbi_source=shareVisual&visual=9d4efa34a426802d1e12&height=431.11&width=1270.00&bookmarkGuid=34bc99fc-9371-455b-9a03-6f8052cfea95


Dial-a-Ride Q2 Performance

 * Please note that June DAR Data is not finalized due to Ranger outages experienced during the last 2 weeks of June 

Q2 Highlight: Ridership is now up by 2.94%. Q1 
2024 showed a decrease of 0.34%

Ridership Trends: YTD Δ 2023/2024 = 2.94%
Click HERE to view trends from 2020 through 2024

https://app.powerbigov.us/groups/me/reports/b26437bc-2b78-4e75-aff8-277992173eed/ReportSectiona4c02c45806e2ae449dc?ctid=702b5558-842a-4224-9734-71b3400769e0&pbi_source=shareVisual&visual=7f629121ab0b50b7c092&height=431.11&width=1270.00&bookmarkGuid=2817080d-1a0b-4c9d-846f-2b6d4c588b28


Vanpool Q2 Performance Q2 Highlight:  Increase of 3.70% since Q2 2023, 
which is also up from Q1 2024

Ridership Trends: YTD Δ 2023/2024 = 3.70%
Click HERE to view trends from 2020 through 2024

https://app.powerbigov.us/groups/me/reports/b26437bc-2b78-4e75-aff8-277992173eed/ReportSection5ad8c60060be9bcd2b5e?ctid=702b5558-842a-4224-9734-71b3400769e0&pbi_source=shareVisual&visual=b1c2f9305e3999a12338&height=431.11&width=1270.00&bookmarkGuid=7459d54a-b2e5-444b-96ff-6f0aaf3e0bf0


BFT CONNECT Q2 Performance Q2 Highlight: There is a 17.75% decrease since 
Q2 2023

Ridership Trends: YTD Δ 2023/2024 = -17.75%
Click HERE to view trends from 2020 through 2024

https://app.powerbigov.us/groups/me/reports/b26437bc-2b78-4e75-aff8-277992173eed/ReportSectioncd80f0a60937ae876090?ctid=702b5558-842a-4224-9734-71b3400769e0&pbi_source=shareVisual&visual=70b96d01014e06741419&height=431.11&width=1270.00&bookmarkGuid=ac4cd04a-7794-4fc4-9494-f8249f051e01


Capital Projects Update

Downtown Pasco –Conceptual 

designs are being finalized. Submitting 

request WSDOT to reallocate funds.

West Pasco – Acquisition process 

still in progress. Further direction 

provided by the Board in July. Will revisit 

the Topic in early Fall. 

Occupancy Permit issued. Landscaping and parking lot 

complete. Majority of move-in complete. 

Arch culvert installation underway, 

Estimated completion August 15, 2024. Service begins end of August.



• Senior Times Expo at Southridge
• Free Fare on Earth Day
• Earth Day Event at the REACH

• Tri Town Get Down Shuttle
• Dad Joke Contest
• BFT Annual Picnic, Family Food 

Truck Fest

April May June

• Time Capsule Buried
• Art Bus Awards & Tour

Q2 Marketing & Outreach Update



Why is  it importa nt? Community Involve me ntWha t is  it?

Long-ra nge  Tra ns it  Pla n 
(LRTP)

Annua l Se rvice  Pla n 
(ASP)

Tra ns it De ve lopme nt Pla n 
(TDP)

A long-te rm plan looking 20 years or 
more into the future, outlining 

transportation goals and policies.

Helps plan for future growth and 
ensures our transit system can meet 

the community's evolving needs.

Community input is crucial, as it shapes 
the plan by identifying priorities and 

unmet needs to guide future 
developments.

A yearly evaluation of the changes we 
plan to make in our transit services for 

the upcoming year.

Ensures that our services are 
efficient, effective, and reliable.

Involves both an internal and external 
public outreach campaign to gather 

feedback and inform of future community 
on future updates. 

A detailed six-year projection of our 
transit agency's goals, expenses, and 

structure.

A WSDOT-required document that 
aligns transit services with fleet size, 
financials, and other key aspects to 
ensure comprehensive short-term 
planning and funding allocation.

This document aligns jurisdictional 
planning with Transit Improvement Plans 

to address future growth, while 
community feedback is always welcome 

and appreciated.

Transit Planning 

Y
E
A
R
L
Y

*July/August

*August/September



PHAS E 1 - VIS IO NING

PHAS E 2 - O UTREAC H PHAS E 3  - DRAFT PLAN
C O MPLETE

Long-range Transit Plan

Q3 2024 

Q1 2025

Public comment period 
opens while providing 

community outreach and 
working with 

jurisdictional partners to 
incorporate feedback on 

final drafts of Mid and 
Long-range Plan.  

Q4 2025
Q3 2025

Completion of our Mid and 
Long-range Plan emphasizes 

inclusive stakeholder 
engagement to address all 

project goals. With strategies 
for transit integration, 

commuter services, and 
regional collaboration, the 

plan incorporates public 
feedback and ensures a 

sustainable, community-
focused transit future.

Mid-Range Plan 
Strategies for transit center integration, 
commuter express services, demand evaluation 
in underserved areas, and collaboration with 
regional transit providers.
Long-Range Plan 
Detailed long-term plan covering stakeholder 
engagement, technology advancements, 
demographic trends, financial sustainability, 
infrastructure, accessibility, and risk 
management.

Data Collection, Identifying 

Key Players, and 

Conceptualization



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Additional Board Information 
August 2024 

 
 

1. 90-Day Procurement Outlook as of 07/17/2024 

2. Ben Franklin Transit Treasurer’s Report dated 08/08/2024 

3. BFT’s Sales Tax Comparison  

 



As of: 7/17/2024 Budget
Estimated    

Cost
Contract       

Term
Type            

IFB/RFP
Estimated 

Release Date
Estimated 

Award Date

Executive 
Board 

Committee
In Progress

Color Code: Yellow - In Process

August 
Color Code: Green - Recommendation for 

Award

Recommendation for Award - Mobile Ticketing 
Technology Services 

Operating $250,000 Up to 5 Years RFP 3/18/2024 9/20/2024 X

September 

Color Code: Grey - Future Procurement Awards
Acceptance of Capital Project: Administration 
Building HVAC

Capital $116,045 6 Months IFB NA NA X

Acceptance of Capital Project: Operations 
Building 

Capital $11,500,000 16 Months IFB NA NA X

October 
Award of Contract  -  Grant-Funded Bus Stop & 
Sidewalk Improvements 

Capital $1,590,507 Up to 2 Years IFB 8/20/2024 9/17/2024 X



Date: August 8, 2024

To: Ben Franklin Transit Board of Directors

From: Finance Department

Subject: Treasurer's Report - As of Jul 31, 2024

The Investment Position of Ben Franklin Transit as of the Close of Business on Jul 31, 2024 is as follows:

% OF
ITEM RATE MATURITY COST TOTAL

WA State Government Investment Pool 5.4110% Open 53,274,123$                55.0%
US Bank Commercial Paper Sweep Acct 0.0000% Open -                                0.0%

Subtotal Investments 53,274,123                  55.0%

Check Book Balance, Petty Cash, & Travel Account * 43,621,516                  45.0%
100.0%

Total Cash and Equivalents on Hand ** 96,895,639$                

Less Reserve Funds 
Operating Reserves (15,910,000)                 

Fuel Reserves (3,076,000)                   
Fleet Replacement Reserves (8,450,000)                   
Non-Fleet Capital Reserves (6,750,000)                   

Total Reserves (34,186,000)                 

Subtotal Funds Available 62,709,639                  

Local Funds Obligated for Capital Projects (2024 - 2030) (32,938,870)                 
Fleet Vehicles (26,297,612)             (11,146,106)                  

Facilities - Transit Centers & Amenities (47,307,799)             (13,044,493)                  
Facilities - MOA Campus (12,413,262)             (3,379,559)                    

Technology (12,258,702)             (3,421,019)                    
Other (2,270,000)                (1,947,693)                    

(100,547,375)           (32,938,870)                  
Net Funds Available 29,770,769$                

* 2024 Capital Budget $22.7m + Prior Years Obligated CapEx rolled over to 2024. $5m to $7m estimated to rollover to 2025.
** 2023 to 2025 Washington State Transit Support Grants & Special Needs Awarded $14.1 million; Due to uncertainty around I-2117 drawdowns through July 31, 2024 total 
$11.3 million to cover Operating expenses. 

Ben Franklin Transit
Treasurer's Report

 Local Funds Approved 
Budget Authority  

 12 Month Estimated 
Outflows (*) 

83,330 82,617 82,554 
79,423 

68,108 67,848 

76,913 

85,120 

95,046 94,109 93,583 95,309 96,896 

 -

 10,000

 20,000

 30,000

 40,000

 50,000

 60,000

 70,000

 80,000

 90,000

 100,000

07-01-23 08-01-23 09-01-23 10-01-23 11-01-23 12-01-23 01-01-24 02-01-24 03-01-24 04-01-24 05-01-24 06-01-24 07-01-24

In
 T

ho
us

an
ds

07-31-23 08-31-23 09-30-23 10-31-23 11-30-23 12-31-23 01-31-24 02-29-24 03-31-24 04-30-24 05-31-24 06-30-24 07-31-24
 Total Cash on Hand 83,330 82,617 82,554 79,423 68,108 67,848 76,913 85,120 95,046 94,109 93,583 95,309 96,896
 Reserves 29,278 29,278 29,278 29,278 29,278 29,278 34,186 34,186 34,186 34,186 34,186 34,186 34,186
 Available 32,120 31,406 31,344 28,212 16,898 16,637 16,317 24,523 25,104 24,167 23,641 25,367 29,771
 12 Mo Capital 21,932 21,932 21,932 21,932 21,932 21,932 26,411 26,411 35,756 35,756 35,756 35,756 32,939

Total Cash & Investments (in thousands) as of Jul 31, 2024



JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC TOTAL YTD
2024 Activity 3,779,941       3,890,902       4,676,729       4,364,050       4,587,567       21,299,189     21,299,189$      
2023 Activity 3,621,393       3,685,398       4,462,542       4,404,165       4,461,692       4,845,735       4,376,047       4,276,040       4,559,657       4,191,167       4,349,920       4,724,583       51,958,339     20,635,190$      
2022 Activity 3,718,461       3,818,560       4,527,951       4,220,707       4,199,919       4,741,316       4,335,247       4,477,763       4,315,048       4,142,860       3,892,338       4,504,698       50,894,868     
2021 Activity 3,217,469       3,080,269       4,253,848       4,162,484       4,127,491       4,434,171       3,995,092       3,907,965       4,136,176       4,100,560       4,129,726       4,726,262       48,271,512     
2020 Activity 2,897,013       2,628,492       2,869,290       2,734,647       3,377,653       3,655,389       3,621,523       3,259,755       3,773,316       3,372,348       3,302,921       3,981,314       39,473,663     

Chg 24 to 23 158,549           205,504           214,187           (40,116)           125,875           -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   663,999          
Chg 23 to 22 (97,068)           (133,162)         (65,409)           183,458           261,773           104,419           40,800             (201,724)         244,609           48,307             457,583           219,885           1,063,471       
Chg 22 to 21 500,991           738,291           274,103           58,223             72,428             307,145           340,156           569,799           178,872           42,300             (237,388)         (221,564)         2,623,356       
Chg 21 to 20 320,456           451,777           1,384,558       1,427,837       749,838           778,782           373,568           648,209           362,860           728,212           826,805           744,948           8,797,849       
Chg 20 to 19 345,798           212,951           (214,627)         (381,139)         (56,538)           (82,385)           214,317           (96,862)           163,901           112,398           (282,544)         226,482           161,752           

% Chg 24 to 23 4.4% 5.6% 4.8% -0.9% 2.8% 3.2%
% Chg 23 to 22 -2.6% -3.5% -1.4% 4.3% 6.2% 2.2% 0.9% -4.5% 5.7% 1.2% 11.8% 4.9% 2.1%
% Chg 22 to 21 15.6% 24.0% 6.4% 1.4% 1.8% 6.9% 8.5% 14.6% 4.3% 1.0% -5.7% -4.7% 5.4%
% Chg 21 to 20 11.1% 17.2% 48.3% 52.2% 22.2% 21.3% 10.3% 19.9% 9.6% 21.6% 25.0% 18.7% 22.3%
% Chg 20 to 19 13.6% 8.8% -7.0% -12.2% -1.6% -2.2% 6.3% -2.9% 4.5% 3.4% -7.9% 6.0% 0.4%

2024 Budget 3,717,000       3,783,000       4,584,000       4,514,000       4,573,000       4,967,000       4,485,000       4,383,000       4,675,000       4,296,000       4,459,000       4,728,000       53,164,000     21,171,000$      
2023 Budget 3,680,707       3,513,039       4,384,049       4,227,086       4,601,849       5,074,020       4,571,488       4,468,766       4,739,106       4,447,024       4,513,023       5,179,843       53,400,000     
2022 Budget 3,339,912       3,196,447       3,822,127       3,685,386       4,188,859       4,468,726       4,219,761       4,071,741       4,363,599       4,029,370       4,099,852       4,641,719       48,127,500     
2021 Budget 2,746,574       2,667,953       3,329,812       3,199,984       3,484,955       3,910,393       3,403,113       3,428,179       3,522,917       3,287,186       3,391,233       3,827,701       40,200,000     
2020 Budget 2,627,752       2,488,008       3,176,434       3,209,259       3,537,217       3,849,908       3,166,535       3,226,237       3,156,625       3,105,347       3,015,387       3,478,464       38,037,173     

Vs. 2024 Budget 62,941             107,902           92,729             (149,950)         14,567             128,189          0.6%
Vs. 2023 Budget (59,315)           172,359           78,493             177,079           (140,157)         (228,285)         (195,440)         (192,726)         (179,449)         (255,857)         (163,103)         (455,260)         (1,441,661)      -2.7%
Vs. 2022 Budget 378,549           622,113           705,824           535,321           11,060             272,590           115,486           406,023           (48,551)           113,489           (207,515)         (137,021)         2,767,368       5.8%
Vs. 2021 Budget 470,895           412,316           924,036           962,500           642,536           523,778           591,979           479,786           613,259           813,374           738,493           898,561           8,071,512       20.1%
Vs. 2020 Budget 269,262           140,484           (307,145)         (474,612)         (159,563)         (194,518)         454,989           33,518             616,691           267,000           287,534           502,850           1,436,490       3.8%

 -

 1,000,000

 2,000,000

 3,000,000

 4,000,000

 5,000,000

 6,000,000

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC

BFT Sales Tax Comparison
2021 to YTD 2024  

2024 Activity 2023 Activity 2022 Activity 2021 Activity


	1. BFT Board Meeting Agenda 2024-08-08
	1b. BFT Board Meeting Agenda 2024-08-08-SPANISH
	Board Workshop Minutes 2024-07-18--REVISED JB
	Board Meeting Minutes 2024-07-18
	JULY 2024 VOUCHERS BOARD REPORT
	6D1. Memo & Resolution 38-2024  Tech Surplus
	6D2. 38-2024. Exhibit A 08 2024 IT Surplus Board Meeting FINAL
	Surplus Tracker

	6E Resolution XX-2024 Mobile Ticketing System Award v2
	Memorandum
	Date: August 8, 2024
	OBJECTIVE
	To seek contracting authority for a mobile ticketing system solution to enable the public to purchase tickets via smart phones and other electronic devices.
	Background


	7A1. TDP Auth to Adopt memo_reso
	Memorandum

	7A2. TDP 2024 - 2030 Public Hearing Presentation
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Slide Number 16
	Slide Number 17
	Slide Number 18
	Slide Number 19

	7A3. BFT Transit Development Plan 2024_Final Package
	MAPS
	Figures
	Tables
	Element 1: Public Hearing & Distribution
	Element 2: Description of Service Area, Operations, & Facilities
	History
	Service Area
	Tri-Cities Region

	Operations & Service Provided
	Enhancing Transit Services
	Training
	Language Assistance
	Future Plans:


	Fixed Route
	Dial-A-Ride
	Vanpool/Rideshare
	CONNECT
	The Arc of Tri-Cities
	Fares

	Facilities
	Amenities and Installation
	Expansion
	PTBA Park & Ride Counts
	P&R Lots (excluding transit centers)


	InterCity and Regional connections

	Element 3: State & Agency Goals, Objectives, & Action Strategies
	Funding Considerations
	Funding Risk Considerations

	Element 4: Local Performance Measures & Targets
	Fixed Route On-time Performance (OTP)
	Transit Asset Management (TAM)
	Estimating Capital Investment Needs
	Investment Prioritization
	TAM and SGR Policy
	BFT State of Good Repair

	Safety Performance Measurements & Targets
	Five-Year Outlook


	Element 5: Plan Consistency
	Element 6: Planned Capital Expenses
	Capital Improvement Program

	Element 7: Planned Operating Changes
	Element 8: Multiyear Financial Plan
	Service Expansion Revenue Hour Projections for Cash Flow

	Element 9: Projects of Regional Significance
	Works Cited
	Appendix
	Appendix 1: BFT Organizational Chart
	Appendix 2: CIP Year By Year
	Appendix 3: Program of Projects Cost Split
	Appendix 4: Fleet Replacement Gap
	Appendix 5: Public Comment Period
	Appendix 6: Board Adoption


	8A. 2024 Q2 Performance Report Slides
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8

	8B. LRP _INFO  Update
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2

	A1. Additional Board Information Cover
	X. Board Committee 7.17.2024 90 Day Outlook
	Sheet1

	2024.08.08 Treasurer's Report for Board Meeting (JulyData)
	TREASURER

	07 - Sales Tax - Comparison (July 2024) (May 2024 data but received in July 2024)
	RECAP


